Changes in Biceps and Triceps Brachii Electromyography During Wingate Anaerobic Tests at Different Intensities

By

Chioke Cramer Swann

A Thesis Submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

Master of Science (Kinesiology)

School of Human Kinetics and Recreation

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Spring 2024

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Introduction The Wingate Anaerobic Test (WAnT) is a cycling protocol used to assess maximal power, with metrics like velocity, power, and muscle activity (EMG) helping to evaluate performance and motor activation. EMG can reveal differences in motor drive between limbs, including bilateral deficits. There is currently a gap in the research on the different activation strategies employed by the biceps and triceps brachii during a WAnT.

Objectives This study had two main objectives: 1) quantify the influence that arm dominance, unilateral or bilateral arm cycling, fatigue, WAnT resistance intensity, or crank position have on EMG amplitude of the biceps and triceps brachii; 2) assess whether there is evidence to support a bilateral EMG deficit during arm cycling.

Methods In this quasi-randomized study, 12 participants performed a series of 30s WAnTs with a resistance of 3, 4, and 5% of body mass (BM) unilaterally with their dominant and non-dominant, and bilaterally with both arms with 24-48h between each session (1 familiarization, 3 experimental). Surface EMG from the biceps and triceps brachii was recorded during each WAnT. Metrics for arm dominance, laterality, intensity, crank position, and fatigue were used to determine what had the greatest effect on the normalized mean EMG amplitude for the biceps and triceps brachii.

Results Crank position (6 o'clock/12 o'clock), (p<0.001, p<0.001), intensity (3%, 4%, 5%) (p<0.001, p<0.001), and arm (dominant/non dominant) (p<0.001, p<0.001) had a significant effect on EMG for the biceps and triceps brachii, respectively. WAnT section (beginning, middle, end) was only significant for the biceps brachii (p=0.022). There were significant intensity * arm (p<0.001, p<0.001), and crank position * arm (p<0.001, p<0.001) interactions, for biceps and triceps brachii, respectively, whereas intensity *

crank position (p=0.019) and crank position * WAnT section (p=<0.001) were significant for the biceps brachii.

Conclusions This study found that average muscle activity during a fatiguing arm cycling task varied with crank position, resistance, and whether the task was performed unilaterally or bilaterally. This variance of EMG activity for each of the aforementioned aspects, specifically when comparing between bilateral and unilateral trials suggests that there are different recruitment strategies used, depending on which arm is used for a given task. Future research could explore how these differences in individual motor unit recruitment, including bilateral deficits or facilitations, are influenced by factors like sex, training status, and task intensity, and assess their relationship to performance measures.

Acknowledgments

There are many people I wish to thank, all of whom contributed to the completion of my thesis. I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Duane Button, for his incredible supervision and guidance. You were always the first one with a plan when my projects inevitably did not go according to plan, and I am so grateful for all the opportunities you have presented me during my time here. You were also the first person to show me an alternative of funding my academic career, allowing me to do a bit more than surviving off of ramen for these past two years. Now, I am in a far better place to continue with my goals and academic career. I would also like to take the time to thank Wilhelm Roman Moreno, without you I likely would not have gone very far with piloting any of my projects. Additionally, I would like to thank Angie Katherin Antolinez Romero and Philip Francis Edwards, without your help with the data, this project would not have been possible. I would also like to take a moment my friends at the Human Neurophysiology Laboratory (plus Ben) and the Recovery and Performance Laboratory. We are all with big dreams of contributing to our chosen field of research, so much so, that I think it can be easy not to consider who it is you'll be working with in order to make those contributions. I consider myself extremely fortunate to have been able work with such a wonderful, talented, and genuinely fun group of people, that made coming into the lab that much better, regardless of how piloting or trials went that day. Lastly, I would like to thank my girlfriend, Jessica. I understand I can be a little bit intense and challenging to deal with on the best of days, yet your patience and kindness towards me never faltered. I am not sure it is possible to

thank everyone individually that I would like to in this small, section, but I am truly thankful for everyone in my life to helped me get to this point. I've grown so much in these past two years, and am a better person than I was before, and it would not have been possible the support around me; friends, faculty, and family alike. I am truly grateful for all of you, and to this amazing faculty.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgments	4
List of Abbreviations	
List of Tables	9
List of Figures	9
List of Appendices	
Chapter 1: Literature Review & Introduction	11
1.1 Introduction	11
1.2 Wingate performance of the legs and the arms 1.2.1 Why use arm cycling as opposed to leg cycling for a WAnT 1.2.2 Neuromuscular Fatigue During a WAnT	13
1.3 What is a Bilateral Deficit?	19
1.4 Movement - From the Central Nervous System to the Muscles	21
1.5 Electromyography and How it is Analyzed 1.5.1 Fatigue Development and Electromyography	 23
1.6 Data Normalization for Electromyography	
1.7 Conclusion	
1.8 Research Objectives	
1.9 Hypotheses	
Chapter 2: Research Study	
2.1 Methodologies	
2.1.1 Participants	
2.1.2 Arm Cycle Ergometer	
2.1.3 Maximal Voluntary Contractions	
2.1.4 Arm Uycling WAN I	
2.1.5 Electromyography Recording	
2.1.0 Experimental sessions	
2.1.7 Data Analysis 2.1.8 Statistical Analysis	
2.2 Results	
2.2.1 Main Effects	39
2.2.2 Main Interaction Effects	

2.3 Discussion	. 45
2.3.1 EMG amplitude during WAnT is highly influenced by intensity, crank position, and ar	m,
but not WAnT section	45
2.3.2 The biceps and triceps brachii are recruited differently within the WAnT	47
2.3.3 Time does not completely account for changes in EMG amplitude when considering	
fatigue development during a 30s WAnT.	48
2.3.4 There is likely an optimal WAnT resistance for generating maximal neural drive.	49
2.3.5 EMG amplitudes are significantly different for the same muscle across unilateral and	
bilateral WAnTs.	50
2.4 Methodological considerations	. 51
2.5 Conclusion	. 54
2.7 References	. 55
Figure Legend	. 96

List of Abbreviations

- BLD Bilateral Deficit
- BLF Bilateral Facilitation
- BM Body Mass
- CNS Central Nervous System
- EMG Electromyography
- FI Fatigue Index
- fMRI Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- H Hours
- HD-EMG High-density Electromyography
- iEMG Integrated Electromyography
- INaP Persistent Inwards Sodium Current
- ITT Interpolated Twitch Technique
- M1 Primary Motor Cortex
- MAV Mean Absolute Value
- MPO Mean Power Output
- mV millivolts
- MVDC Maximal Voluntary Dynamic Contractions
- MVIC Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction
- N-Newtons
- nEMG Needle Electrode Electromyography
- Nm/s Newton Metres per Second
- PICs Persistent Inwards Current
- PM Premotor Cortex
- RMS Root Mean Squared

PPO – Peak Power Output

RTD – Rate of Torque Development

S - Seconds

sEMG – Surface EMG

SIT- Sprint Interval Training

SLWAnT – Single Leg Wingate

SNR – Signal to Noise Ratio

Sub-MVIC – Submaximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction

VA – Voluntary Activation

W – Watts

W/kg – Watts per Kilogram

WAnT – Wingate

List of Tables

Table 1. Rectified and smoothed (0.1ms) EMG data mean and standard do	eviation
values	92
Table 2. Table of average MVIC raw data in. All EMG data is in mV	93
Table 3. Normalized EMG data mean and standard deviation values	93
Table 4. Main effect & post hoc test summary	94
Table 5. Interaction P value table	95

List of Figures

Figure 1 Upper body experimental WAnT protocol	98
Figure 2 Average raw EMG values during a single revolution	99
Figure 3 Percentage shift in normalized biceps and triceps brachii EMG a	ctivation
from unilateral to bilateral WAnTs	100

Figure 4 Mean EMG amplitude activation shift of the biceps brachii and triceps		
brachii from the middle of WAnT to the end of WAnT10	01	
List of Appendices		

Ap	ppendix 1- Ethics Approval Letter	02)
-			

Chapter 1: Literature Review & Introduction

1.1 Introduction

A Wingate anaerobic test (WAnT) is a common way of using either arm (Grant et al., 2014) or leg cycling (Green et al., 2001) as a means to assess a participant's maximal power (Grant et al., 2014; Green et al., 2001). A WAnT cycle ergometer set up consists of a set of pedals attached to crack shaft on a flywheel (Bar-Or, 1987). The cogs of the flywheel then drive a larger wheel via a chain (Bar-Or, 1987). Braking force is applied to the larger wheel either via an electromagnetic current or physical weight, adding resistance to the wheel (Bar-Or, 1987). A WAnT protocol typically consists of a short warm up period, allowing the participant to reach the desired cadence, followed by a percentage of the participants body mass being applied to the wheel as a load of resistance with the participant cycling at maximum effort for a set duration of time (Bar-Or, 1987; Silveira-Rodrigues et al., 2021). Often, a percentage of body mass applied as the load is a variable factor of a WAnT (Bar-Or, 1987; Patton et al., 1985; Silveira-Rodrigues). An additional parameter that can vary within WAnT protocols is the duration that the participant is asked to cycle at maximum effort (Bar-Or, 1987), though 30s is the most common (Bar-Or, 1987; Castañeda-Babarro, 2021).

Some common metrics obtained from WAnT are velocity (Parisi & Allen, 1994), power (Patton et al., 1985; Zupan et al., 2009), force development (Obmiński et al., 2015; Parten et al., 2023), fatigue index (Dupont et al., 2007; Maud & Shultz, 1989) and at times, electromyography (EMG) (Chtourou et al., 2011; Souissi et al., 2012). Velocity, or cadence is almost always built into the WAnT cycle ergometer and its software (Parisi & Allen, 1994). While EMG is not included in all WAnT protocols, WAnTs are highly compatible with EMG (Okano et al., 2017). The main reason for this is EMG allows for a consistent measure of motor activation during the trial (Rana, 2006), and its reliability is further enhanced when the participant is secured in such a way to limit excess movement (Samuel et al., 2017).

Depending on the research question, EMG can be a very important metric to include when performing a WAnT. Specifically, it provides information on nervous system output (Farina et al., 2004). EMG values are a representation of the average motor neuron activation over a given area within a given sample window (Suzuki et al., 2002) which allows researchers to estimate neural drive (Farina et al., 2010; Karimimehr et al., 2017). Activation can differ across limbs and muscles, depending on the task, if the said task is performed unilaterally with the dominant or non-dominant limb, or if it is performed bilaterally (Niu et al., 2011; Saeterbakken et al., 2015). The use of EMG during a task such as a WAnT allows the researcher to quantify the difference in activation or drive and contrast it with other recorded metrics (Farina et al., 2004).

Lastly, in order for the EMG data obtained to be valid, along with any claims made from the said data, it has to be normalized (Singh & Singh, 2020). Normalization is required because each participants' individual outputs will be different (Galán-Rioja et al., 2020; Naughton et al., 1992) and can vary depending on the day (Pedersen et al., 2016; Souissi et al., 2012). So, in order to make generalizations about a population, a controlled average must be made (Kern et al., 2016). A specific benefit to using WAnTs for studies such as this, is that all data received is automatically partially normalized, since applied force is relative to the body mass (BM) of each participant (3%, 4%, or 5% of BM) reducing the amount of work the researcher has to do for each trial, since every participant has a load automatically tailored to them, rather than using a series of static loads that would not change from participant to participant..

1.2 Wingate performance of the legs and the arms

General performance metrics of a WAnT include peak and mean power, measured in watts (W) (Carlson & Naughton, 1994), rate of torque development, measured in Newton meters per second (Nm/s) (Morris et al., 2010), fatigue index (FI), expressed as a percentage (Lunde & O'kroy, 2016), and RPM, expressed as the number of rotations the cycle ergometer wheel performs within a minute (Hager et al., 2011). When comparing absolute power outputs, not normalized for body mass, males demonstrate greater power outputs than females (Thompson et al., 2015). Specifically, in the Thompson et al. (2015) study that took sex differences into account, they found that the peak power output (PPO) was approximately 55.1% greater in males, than in females (849.21 ± 127.41W vs 547.74 ± 94.56W). When normalizing for weight, male and female participants have similar peak power outputs 50.4 ± 5.6 W/kg vs 50.5 ± 6.2 W/kg, respectively (Pérez-Gómez et al., 2008). However, when comparing the relative mean power outputs, men (26.6 ± 3.4 W/kg) do have higher results than women (21.9 ± 3.2 W/kg) (Pérez-Gómez et al., 2008).

Aside from sex differences in WAnT performance, there is also a difference in WAnT performance between trained athletes and untrained individuals (Arslan, 2005; Delahunt et al., 2013). When specifically comparing untrained, sedentary individuals that were trained over a 6-week period, performance increased by approximately 18.3% for PPO (970 ± 176 W (pre training) *vs* 1148 ± 159 W (post training)), and approximately 10.0% for mean power output (MPO) (399 ± 55 W *vs* 439 ± 53 W) (Delahunt et al., 2013).

This indicates that a more trained person, such as an athlete, will be able to output more power during a WAnT than an untrained individual.

The last major performance difference that needs to be made is between WAnT arm cycling and leg cycling. Expectedly, PPO and MPO are greater in leg cycling than in arm cycling (Weber et al., 2006). Weber et al. (2006) found that the power output for arm cycling was less than it was for leg cycling. Specifically, PPO was, on average, was equal 70% of a participant's leg cycling PPO, whereas their MPO for arm cycling was only 59% of their leg cycling MPO (Weber et al., 2006). This difference is PPO and MPO can largely be attributed to the increased muscle mass of the legs when compared to the arms (Hosler et al., 1982; Lynch et al., 1999).

All the aforementioned metrics do change as resistance is added to the WAnT. As resistance is increased, peak power will increase up to a certain point, after which, peak power will decrease (Carlson & Naughton, 1994; Patton et al., 1985). This suggests that there is an optimal resistance level for a given WAnT (Jaafar et al., 2014). Rate of torque development shows a clear decrease as resistance is increased (Morris et al., 2010). Additionally, rate of torque development can also act as an indicator of fatigue for a participant, where the more the rate of torque development decreases, the more a participant is becoming fatigued (Morris et al., 2010). Fatigue index (FI) is the other primary measure of fatigue during a WAnT (Lunde & O'kroy, 2016) and it will increase as the resistance increases (Lunde & O'kroy, 2016). Another metric that can be used to measure fatigue is RPM of the cycle ergometer wheel, which decreases as the resistance is increased during a WAnT and as a participant fatigues, even when the applied load remains constant (Hager et al., 2011).

Regarding a leg cycling WAnT, the results are affected by serval factors. One of the factors that can affect the performance of a leg cycling WAnT is whether the test is performed unilaterally or bilaterally (Hebsertreit et al., 1999). When a single leg Wingate (SLWAnT) is performed, the total amount for power and torque is higher in the bilateral WAnT, when compared to either leg performing a SLWAnT (Dunstheimer et al., 1999). Hobsertreit et al., 1999). However, when summing both legs performing SLWAnTs together and contrasting them with the bilateral WAnT, the sum of both is greater than the bilateral WAnT (Dunstheimer et al., 1999). Another factor that affects the performance of a leg cycling WAnT is exercising prior to the WAnT (Grant et al., 2014). Interestingly, the exercise does not have to be localized to the legs, to see a reduction in leg cycling performance (Grant et al., 2014). In the study performed by Grant et al. (2014), they were able to demonstrate that fatiguing arm exercise prior to a WAnT was able to meaningfully decrease the performance of the subsequent WAnT, even though the legs remained unfatigued prior to the WAnT.

A pharmacologically way to increase leg cycling WAnT performance is to increase a participant's intake of inorganic nitrates (Jodra et al., 2020). In the study performed by Jorda et al. (2020), they were able to demonstrate that increasing intake of inorganic nitrates led to an increase in peak power during a WAnT and lowered the time to reach peak power. Additionally, they demonstrated that the treatment led to a decrease in perceived muscle exertion, post-exercise (Jorda et al., 2020). Physiologically, the performance of a leg cycling WAnT can be influenced by prior training (Hager et al., 2011; Wun et al., 2020; Zinner et al., 2016). One method of training that can affect the performance of a leg cycling WAnT is previous experience with a WAnT (Wun et al., 2020). Over time and practice with a leg cycling WAnT, an increase in peak aerobic power can be observed, which leads to improved WAnT performance (Wun et al., 2020). High-cycle resistance training and leg press training also increase leg power output and subsequently increase WAnT performance (Hager et al., 2011). Similarly, sprint interval training (SIT) also increases the aerobic performance of the legs which, predictably, leads to an increase in leg cycling WAnT performance (Zinner et al., 2016).

Arm cycling WAnT performance is similarly affected by a multitude of factors (Grant et al., 2014; Lovell et al., 2011; Zinner et al., 2016). Similar to leg cycling WAnTs, arm cycling WAnTs can also be affected by SIT. The implementation of SIT leads to an increase in performance in arm cycling WAnT similar to leg cycling WAnTs (Zinner et al., 2016). Additionally, asynchronous vs synchronous cycling affects the performance of an arm cycling WAnT (Lovelle et al., 2011). More specifically, having the cycling crank set up in an asynchronous manner (where one pedal is 180° to the other) results in higher WAnT performance when compared to positioning them in a synchronous (where one pedal is 0° to the other) manner (Lovell al., 2011).

1.2.1 Why use arm cycling as opposed to leg cycling for a WAnT

The current body of research supports the idea that CPGs can produce rhythmic motion in both the arms and legs, seen during locomotion and cycling (Calancie et al., 1994; Power et al., 2018; Zehr et a., 2004). Evidence supporting the notion that locomotor patterns are housed in the spinal cord, and not the brain can be seen with involuntary stepping movements overserved in a patient with a complete spinal cord injury (Calancie et al., 1994). Arm cycling has also been directly used to assess reflex modulation in human participants, with convincing evidence suggesting that CPGs are at least partially at play

(Zehr et al., 2004). Though both leg and arm cycling are two valid models of rhythmic output, arm cycling does have the distinct advantage of high head and arm stability since it allows for the use of a back rest to support and strap the trunk in place as well as to stabilize and strap the head of the participant into position (Power et al., 2018). When a participant is secured to the cycle ergometer in such a way, it removes balance from being another variable (Power et al., 2018). Stimulation techniques to assess cortical spinal excitability, such as CMEPs [] or M-wave stimulation are also more convenient protocols using the arms, since the stimulation is required to travel a shorter distance(Power et al., 2018).

Additionally, there are a few circumstances where it may be advantageous to use arm cycling over leg cycling. Once of such situations is accessibility. Arm cycling is generally more accessible than leg cycling, allowing participants who are wheelchair users (assuming they still have use of their arms) to be included in such studies or training regiments (Hill et al., 2019; Krops et al., 2017). Similarly, an arm cycling WAnT would be a much better choice in a rehabilitation setting where the participant has a disability affecting their lower extremities, such as a spinal cord injury, cerebral palsy, or lower limb amputation (Krops et al., 2017). Lastly, an arm cycling WAnT is the ideal choice when the research question or training regimen is focused on the upper limbs, such as training a sport such as water polo (Vrdoljak et al., 2022), or if the research is predominantly focused on the biceps or triceps brachii (Forman et al., 2019; Nippard et al., 2018; Nippard et al., 2019).

1.2.2 Neuromuscular Fatigue During a WAnT

The WAnT is a highly fatiguing task, which not only fatigues the muscle(s) involved, but also fatigues the nervous system output to the muscles (Hunter et al., 2003; Pearcey et al., 2015). Neuromuscular fatigue can be described as a combination of peripheral and central fatigue (Collins et al., 2018). Peripheral fatigue is shown as a non-linear decrease in power or torque output over the course of the WAnT (Hunter et al., 2003; Pearcey et al., 2016). Looking at the central portion of neuromuscular fatigue, during a WAnT, within the biceps brachii specifically, supraspinal excitability decreased, whereas spinal excitability increased as the participants fatigued (Pearcey et al., 2016).

The primary methods employed to assess central fatigue are the use of the Interpolated Twitch Technique (ITT) either via transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), or via peripheral nerve stimulation (Collins et al., 2018). ITT is necessary to estimate the voluntary activation (VA) of the muscle and whether the changes in VA are caused by supraspinal output, central drive proximal to the motor neuron axons, or a combination of the two (Collins et al., 2018). When considering sprints, such as the WAnT, there is an observable peripheral fatigue that develops early and persists throughout the task and throughout repeated tasks (Collins et al., 2018). When looking at repeated sprint trials, the neuromuscular fatigue also varies in origin depending on if the assessment is taking place early or late in the repeated sprint trials (Collins et al., 2018). Within the beginning half of the repeated sprint trials neuromuscular fatigue is both peripheral and central in nature (Collins et al., 2018).

[add in section about peripheral changes in muscle activity with fatigue (seen with EMG)]

18

1.3 What is a Bilateral Deficit?

The bilateral deficit (BLD) is a decrease in the observed contraction metric (often force) when comparing the sum of unilateral measurements to the sum of the bilateral measurements (Kuruganti et al., 2007; Ruiz-Cárdenas et al., 2014; Škarabot et al., 2016). It is often expressed as the bilateral index (BI), using the following equation BI = $(100 * \Sigma)$ of the average bilateral force / Σ of unilateral force) – 100 (Fountaine, 2018). The exact mechanism behind BLD is currently unknown, however, there are some leading ideas on what contributes to it. One of the proposed ideas contributing to BLD is higher-order neural inhibition (Škarabot et al., 2016). This idea suggests that the cortex limits the amount that a muscle can activate during a bilateral contraction (Post et al., 2007). More specifically, current research indicates that the command to reduce motor output during bilateral contractions may come from the M1 motor cortex (Post et al., 2007). Another proposed factor to BLD is variation in shortening velocity and displacement of the force-velocity curve during different contraction modes (Škarabot et al., 2016). Though, this explanation predominantly applies to the BLD observed during ballistic type movements (Skarabot et al., 2016). Regardless of the contributing factors to BLD, it is well preserved being observable across upper and lower limbs (Janzen et al., 2006; Taniguchi, 1998) and during dynamic and isometric contractions (Jakobi & Chilibeckl, 2001; Škarabot et al., 2016). With that in mind, BLD is more pronounced in step contractions when compared to ramp contractions (Koh et al., 1993), and dynamic contractions when compared to isometric contractions (Škarabot et al., 2016).

BLD can also be increased or decreased depending on training and exercise. For example, bilateral resistance training tends to decrease BLD, whereas unilateral resistance training tends to increase BLD (Ruiz-Cárdenas et al., 2014). Additionally, rapid contractions generally produce a larger BLD when compared to slow contractions (Owings & Grabiner, 1998). BLD is also suggested to be affected by age, with greater BLDs observed in older participants, when compared to younger participants (Owings & Grabiner, 1998), with a potential explanation being the atrophy of high-threshold motor units as people age (Beurskens et al., 2015; Owings & Grabiner, 1998).

Traditionally, BLD is measured with force output (in Newtons, N) (Kuruganti et al., 2007; Yamauchi et al., 2009), rate of torque development (RTD) (in Newton meters per second, Nm/s) (Šarabon et al., 2020), or power (in watts, W) (Nakachi et al., 2019) of the limbs in question. However, BLD can also be quantified though the use of EMG (Carr et al., 2020; Dieën et al., 2003; Post et al., 2007). When using EMG as the method of comparing BLD, the metric compared is the depolarization of the target muscle, measured as voltage across the skin (in millivolts, mV) (Post et al., 2007). To get usable data, the data must first be rectified (all negative values are converted to positive values) and normalized, at the minimum (Ward et al., 2013). However, when using EMG to assess BLD, it is common to implement more signal processing techniques, such as Carr et al. (2020) did when they used a fourth-order Butterworth band-pass filter between 20 and 450 Hz and smoothed the data with a 50ms zero-shift root mean squared (RMS). The primary advantage to using EMG to assess bilateral deficit, is that since EMG is interpreted as a measurement of activity sent from the CNS (Brown et al., 1999), and can be used to give insight on the amount of cortical drive that is being expressed within a contraction (Griffin et al., 2008; Myers & O'Malley, 2003). EMG is not a flawless tool in interpreting activity from the CNS (Chowdhury et al., 2013; Türker, 1993). Specifically, EMG signal is

suceppitble to external noise from power sources (Leske & Dalal, 2019), motion artifacts (Oo & Phukpattaranont, 2022), crosstalk contamination, (Germer et al., 2021), and other physiological noise, such as electrocardiography artifacts (Miljković et al., 2017), all of which reduce the signal to noise ratio (SNR) (Daley & Kuna, (2009).

1.4 Movement - From the Central Nervous System to the Muscles

The general flow of information within the circuits is as follows; upper motor neurons of the descending systems (the motor cortex and brain stem) integrate information from the basal ganglia and the cerebellum (Purves et al., 2001). Information then travels to the local circuit neurons and motor neuron pools within the spinal cord and brain stem. Information from the local circuit neurons is then sent to the motor neuron pool as well (Purves et al., 2001). All the information from the motor pool then leads to a change in the skeletal muscle, either contraction or relaxation (Purves et al., 2001).

Once the signal has reached the target muscle, motor units must be recruited in order for that muscle to generate force (Petajan, 1991). Within motor recruitment, there is an order that is typically followed. Motor units are recruited in order of their size, with the smaller units (slow, type I) being recruited first, with the size of the recruited motor units increasing as the contraction persists (Clamann, 1993; Gordon et al., 2004). Similarly, motor units are de-recruited in the reverse order (Gordon et al., 2004). This phenomenon is called the Henneman Size Principle (Vilensky & Gilman 1998). Specific support for the Henneman Size Principle has been shown with the use of EMG, demonstrating that amplitude, duration, and the area of the motor unit action potentials increase with recruitment order (Akaboshi et al., 2000; Ertaş et al., 1995). Additionally, H-reflex studies

have also added support for Henneman's size principle, demonstrating that smaller motor units are recruited first in both voluntary and reflexive movements (Zhu et al., 2018).

While the Henneman Size Principle often holds true, it is not an absolute. Recruitment patterns can vary depending on the activity and fatigue level of the participant (Hodson-Tole & Wakeling (2008). An example of when the Henneman size principle may not be observed is during rapid, explosive type movements (Sale, 1987). During explosive movements, there is a need to develop high amounts of force rapidly (Sale, 1987), and as such, there is an immediate demand for the larger (fast, type II) motor units to be active immediately (Dideriksen et al., 2019; Sale, 1987). Fatigue also can impact motor unit recruitment by decreasing the threshold at which higher threshold motor units are recruited (Adam, & Luca, 2003; Mcmanus et al., 2015). Additionally, fatigue can increase the derecruitment threshold of active motor units (Enoka et al., 1989; Stock & Mota, 2017).

It is also worthwhile noting that EMG can be used to determine global output of the nervous system to the muscles (Farina et al., 2010; Farina et al., 2014). This is primarily through estimation of neural drive (Farina et al., 2010). Surface EMG allows for the summation of the action potentials discharged by the motor units, which in turn were sent that information to discharge from higher order portions of the CNS (Farina et al., 2004; Farina et al., 2010). Generally speaking, the greater the amplitude of the EMG, the motor units within the targeted muscle are firing at a greater frequency and or in great numbers, which allows the inference of greater neural drive (Farina et al., 2004; Farina et al., 2010; Szyszka-Sommerfeld et al., 2020).

1.5 Electromyography and How it is Analyzed

Electromyography (EMG) is a common diagnostic tool used in neurophysiology (Stålberg et al., 2019), and kinesiology research (Clarys & Cabri, 1993). EMG is most often used when a researcher is interested in looking at the neural drive to the muscle in question (Hug et al., 2015). EMG can gather this information by using one or more electrodes to derive muscle activity from the surface of the skin (surface electrode, sEMG), or within the muscle (needle electrode, nEMG) in reference to a ground electrode (Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, 2019). The result is a reading measured in millivolts (Khanam et al., 2015) and serves as a method to interpret neuromuscular activity (Raez et al., 2006). In fact, EMG readings can act to infer neuromuscular drive from the CNS (Dideriksen et al., 2011; Farina, 2006), with EMG amplitude increasing as a participant's neuromuscular drive increases (Dideriksen et al., 2011).

While the general underpinnings of remain constant, there are two main ways to acquire this data, either via surface recording or intramuscular recording (Gohel & Mehendale, 2020). Should a researcher wish to record from a single muscle fibre, then a needle electrode is often the best choice, as when inserted into the muscle, it will only record from that singular muscle fibre (Gohel & Mehendale, 2020). The major downside to this process is that it is invasive, as well as it requires the assistance of a physician to surgically implant the electrode, increasing cost, and complexity to the trial (Yamashita et al., 2022). Additionally, since, needle electrodes only record from one muscle fiber at a time, it is not the best option to use when the research question necessitates looking at either a large number of muscle fibres, a group of muscles for a given action (Papathanasiou & Zamba-Papanicolaou, 2013; Tanhehco et al., 2003), or if the particular action would

exert a high amount of strain on the needle electrode, leading to a fatigue fracture of the electrode within the participant (Wang et al., 2023). The far more common option is to use surface electrodes for EMG signal acquisition (Gohel & Mehendale, 2020) which can either be applied as a high-density array or a series of single electrodes placed over the target muscle belly (Gohel & Mehendale, 2020). Surface electrodes have the distinct advantages of being noninvasive and being able to record from a multitude of muscle fibres all at once (Gohel & Mehendale, 2020). There is a further variant of surface electrodes, high-density surface electrodes. These are used in high-density known as electromyography (HD-EMG) and consist of an array of small electrodes which are placed onto the target muscle area (Zhao et al., 2023). HD-EMG has the advantage of being able to be decomposed to look at individual motor unit recruitment (Clarke et al., 2020; Glasser et al., 2013). Irrespective of which electrode type is chosen, the EMG signal must be rectified and processed in order make use of the acquired data (Raez et al., 2006). Signal processing is often conducted behind the scenes by the software in which the signal was recorded. There are multiple ways in which the EMG recording can be processed, such as wavelet analysis, time frequency approach, artificial intelligence modelling, higher order statistics, fuzzy logic, Choi-Williams method, and Wigner-Ville distribution (Raez et al., 2006).

Similar to other bio-signaling techniques, a number of factors can affect the quality of EMG readings. One such example being crosstalk, where the EMG signal in a non-active muscle is contaminated by the myoelectric signal of a nearby active muscle (Farina et al., 2006). Additionally, the other more common ways that EMG data can be contaminated is with though motion artifacts and power line noise (Boyer et al., 2023). A

motion artifact is seen when there is a sharp, brief spike in activity much higher than what the muscle is capable of producing, often caused by changes in the skin-electrode impedance level, or from disturbing the elected cables (Boyer et al., 2023). Power line interference, on the other hand is the noise picked up by the electrode from the electrical grid itself (Boyer et al., 2023), which is often filtered out to improve the SNR of the recording (Boyer et al., 2023).

When acquiring EMG signal, it must be processed. This typically involves rectifying the waveforms, using a filter to remove background noise, such as a Butterworth low-pass filter, and then normalizing the values to a set reference point, often to the peak value, either dynamic or isometric (Alizedah et al., 2023; Daley, & Kuna, 2009). When acquired, the EMG signal for rhythmic motion should appear wave-like, which allows for separate calculations of muscle activity and allows each cycle to be broken down into phases (Zehr et al., 2007)

Once EMG data has been acquired, there are multiple ways to interpret it. One common way to do this is to use the mean EMG amplitude. Mean EMG amplitude is used to assess the average muscle activation of the muscle in question during a contraction and is directly related to the number of motor units firing and the rate at which they are firing (increasing either will increase the mean EMG amplitude) (Renshaw et al., 2010; Suzuki et al., 2002). It is worth noting that calculating EMG amplitude with the mean absolute value (MAV), while the calculation is performed over a given duration of time, the resulting function only reports in voltage, not voltage and time. This may be noteworthy, depending on how MAV is applied. Even still, the use of MAV does produce a robust SNR (Clancy & Hogan, 1999). An alternative way to analyze EMG amplitude is by taking its

RMS (Clancy & Hogan, 1997; Clancy & Hogan, 1999; Wang et al., 2019). A particular advantage RMS has over MAV, is that it does take the time domain of the EMG signal into account (Farfán et al., 2010). However, it does have the disadvantage of having a lower SNR ratio, when compared to MAV (Clancy & Hogan, 1999; Phinyomark et al., 2013). Integrated electromyography (iEMG) is very similar to the RMS approach; however, it differs by utilizing the rectified amplitude values and sums them over time, rather than measuring the square root of the average over time (Arabadzhiev et al., 2009; Mushtag & Chawla, 2016). Regardless of which method is used to interpret the data, the raw EMG values should be normalized in order to provide an accurate way of comparing between participants, days, or muscles, depending on the study, prior to performing any statistical analyses on the data (Burden, 2020; Chalard et al., 2020; Yang & Winter, 1983). Additionally, while mean values are often used for EMG because they more accurately provide insight into what the muscle activity is over time. However, there are other ways to average the initial EMG values. A Fast Fourier transformation can be used on raw data to look at mean and median power (Alizedah et al., 2021). The use of FFT transforms the EMG data from the time domain, into the frequency domain, which allows the frequency components of the signal to be analyzed (Zawawi, 2015) Analyzing EMG in this fashion is preferrable when signal conduction velocity is of interest and is better able to show fatigue (Alizedah et al., 2021).

1.5.1 Fatigue Development and Electromyography

Depending on the muscle of interest, and how the fatiguing task is performed, and the position of the limb, EMG will either increase (Alizadeh et al. 2024; Chaytor et al., 2020; Dimitrova and Dimitrov, 2003), decrease (González-Izal et al., 2012), or remain the same (Pearcey et al., 2016). When a submaximal fatiguing task is employed, EMG amplitude is more likely to increase (Alizadeh et al. 2024), whereas when a maximal fatiguing task is employed, surface EMG is more likely to decrease over time (Alizadeh et al. 2024; González-Izal et al., 2012).

The method of assessing fatigue and collecting EMG can affect the delta EMG as well. For example, when EMG is collected and assessed during the particular fatiguing trial, a very evident change in EMG can be observed (Alizadeh et al. 2024). However, if a study was to perform a fatiguing task, and then measure EMG with another task, such as an isometric flexion task, a change in EMG might not be visible (Pearcy et al., 2016). This can be directly applied to bilateral WAnT studies. During a WAnT, muscle activity and EMG data are subject to change (Alizadeh et al., 2024; Robergs et al., 2015) due to various muscle contributions to the task/movement. Alizadeh et al. (2024) were able to demonstrate that EMG amplitudes decreased or increased as the WAnT progressed, depending on which muscle was being assessed. For example, the EMG decreased as the WAnT progressed when the muscle in question was the latissimus dorsi (Alizadeh et al. 2024). This indicates that EMG activity during a WAnT is variable, depending on the muscle observed.

1.6 Data Normalization for Electromyography

Normalizing data is the process of transforming raw, experimental data based on a set of reference data with the goal of improving the quality of the data (Singh & Singh, 2020). The primary benefit to normalizing data is that it allows the researcher to make comparisons across participants and between muscles within an idividual over the course of a study (Cotton-Barratt et al., 2020; Knutson et al., 1994). Critically, within the scope

of EMG research, normalizing data allows for some measure against the inherent variability of EMG signals (Lehman & McGill, 1999; Tabard-Fougère et al., 2018). When it comes to obtaining good reference data, the performed task should be highly consistent and repeatable (Halaki & Gi, 2012).

There are a few different techniques employed when normalizing EMG data. The most common of these is taking the raw EMG amplitude measurement and expressing it as a percentage of the participants peak maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) (Knutson et al., 1994). An isometric contraction is a type of contraction where the participant exerts a force with the target muscle, however the limb is held firmly in place, so that there is no movement (Dunleavy, 2019). Using MVICs are often the simplest way to normalize EMG data because it only requires the perform series of MVICs immediately prior to performing the experimental task, and a simple calculation to generate the normalized percentage value. While normalizing dynamic contractions to static contractions is commonplace, and does provide a baseline to compare the experimental data against (Chalard et al., 2020; Hunter et al., 2002; Rota et al., 2013), it is technically comparing two different types of movement; static and dynamic. Additionally, peak MVIC occurs at a single instance in time, so it does not provide insight into the MVIC EMG across the contraction and cannot be used to normalize EMG area under the curve.

Keeping with isometric normalization, another way to normalize EMG data is to use a submaximal voluntary isometric contraction (sub-MVIC) (Yang & Winter, 1983). Just as the name implies, the participant is asked to perform a series of isometric contractions below what their maximal output would be (Yang & Winter, 1983). The main potential advantage that sub-MVICs have over MVICs is that sub-MVICs are less variable

28

over different days (Dankaerts et al., 2004; Yang & Winter, 1983), and across individuals (Biviá-Roig et al., 2019). While using sub-MVICs does certainly have its advantages over MVICs, it does also have a substantial drawback when performing fatiguing trials (Fuglevand et al., 1993). Specifically, a sustained submaximal contraction will impair neuromuscular propagation (Fuglevand et al., 1993). Additionally, muscle activation patterns can change over repeated submaximal isometric contraction sessions, which can add variability into the reference data (Hunter & Enoka, 2003).

While using peak isometric EMG to normalize a dynamic movement is common, it is not the only way to normalize data from a dynamic movement. Maximal isokinetic contractions can also be implemented as a source of reference data. An isokinetic contraction is a type of contraction where the movement of the contraction about a joint is maintained at a constant velocity (Baltzopoulos & Brodie, 1989). The potential advantage that maximal isokinetic contractions have over MVICs, is that they are less likely to overestimate the percentage MVC, and adding a time component to the reference data, making them a viable option for normalizing EMG during dynamic tasks (Calver et al., 2023). Like all normalization methods, maximal voluntary isokinetic contractions do have their drawbacks when selected to obtain reference data. The primary disadvantage to them is that they often show increased variability between and within participants (Burden et al., 2003; Chalard et al., 2020).

Like maximal voluntary isokinetic contractions, a maximal voluntary dynamic contraction (MVDC) (Hodder & Keir, 2013; Warnock et al., 2019) can also be used to normalize EMG data. This procedure is like the MVIC, with the participant performing a movement with a fixed load at a fixed pace to ensure the target muscle is activated

maximally (Wang et al., 2023). How it differs from an maximal voluntary isokinetic contraction is that a MVDC does not necessarily have to move about one joint, and can at times be a separate task to what the experimental task is, such as chin up being used to normalize upper limb EMG data, so long as the target muscles are still active (Rota et al., 2013). When an MVDC is the normalization task of choice, its EMG data contains mean and peak EMG amplitude, and similar to maximal voluntary isokinetic contraction, it also contains a time component which can be used to normalized data slightly differently vs using isometric data (Rozand et al., 2017). Similarly to using maximal voluntary isokinetic contractions for normalizing EMG, MVDC data also has higher variability when used as reference data, as compared to MVIC data (Burden & Bartlett, 1999; Chuang & Acker, 2019).

1.7 Conclusion

The notion that EMG values are influenced by several factors are well established (Neptune & Herzog, 2000; Niu et al., 2011; Saeterbakken et al., 2015; Souissi et al., 2012). Similarly, EMG has been used with great success during WAnTs (Chtourou et al., 2011; Souissi et al., 2012) and BLDs have been observed in the upper body (Taniguchi, 1998; Ye et al., 2019). However, to this date, only one study has investigated whether a BLD is observable during an upper body WAnT (Antolinez et al., 2024), though they did not assess EMG during this study. Currently, there is a gap in knowledge on which factors have the greatest effect on EMG amplitude during an upper body WAnT, and whether EMG can be used to observe a BLD during arm cycling.

1.8 Research Objectives

This study has two main objectives: 1) quantify the influence that arm dominance, unilateral or bilateral arm cycling, fatigue, WAnT resistance intensity, or crank position have on EMG amplitude of the biceps and triceps brachii; 2) create EMG profiles to assess whether there is a difference in activation of the biceps and triceps brachii between unilateral and bilateral trials, which could support a bilateral EMG deficit during arm cycling, and to break down at the difference in change in activation by clock phase and beginning, middle, and end of the WaNT.

1.9 Hypotheses

Based on previous arm dominance, cycling unilaterally or bilaterally, WAnT resistance, and crank position research all are expected to affect EMG amplitude (Chaytor et al., 2020; Niu et al., 2011; Pearcey et al., 2016; Saeterbakken et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2022). Specifically, the EMG amplitude for the biceps brachii and triceps breachii with be greatest at 6 and 12 o'clock, respectively (Nippard et al., 2019), higher forces output by the muscles result in higher EMG amplitudes (Bilodeau et al., 2003; Ricard, 2005), so greater BW% trials are expected to lead to greater EMG amplitudes for the biceps and triceps brachii for unilateral and bilateral WaNTs, Additionally, dominant biceps and triceps brachii are expected to show greater EMG amplitudes when compared to the non-dominant biceps and triceps brachii (Lad et al., 2023). However, results vary on if fatigue contributes to a change in EMG amplitude (Hunter et al., 2003; Park, E., & Meek, 1993), so it is uncertain how or if it will influence the EMG data of this study. Additionally, based on the study done by Antolinez et al. (2024), the EMG amplitudes the triceps and biceps

brachii for the non-dominant unilateral and dominant unilateral WaNTs should be greater than the amplitudes for the triceps and biceps brachii during the bilateral WaNTs.

Chapter 2: Research Study

2.1 Methodologies

2.1.1 Participants

Eighteen (9 male and 9 female) recreationally active, healthy adults were recruited for the study. Of the participants recruited, only 12 completed all familiarization and experimental WaNT sessions. Prior to the study, participants did not have experience with upper body Wingates (WAnT). Exclusion criteria included having a previous history of upper limb injury in the last six months or pain that would otherwise prevent the participant from engaging in vigorous exercise. After the participants provided informed consent, they completed a Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q+) to ensure the task would be safe for them to perform. Hand dominance was assessed using the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory. Prior to data collection and analysis, participants were informed of all potential risks and benefits of the study and given the opportunity to raise any concerns or questions. All participants gave written informed consent. This study was approved by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research at Memorial University (No. 20250289) following the Tri-Council Policy Statement for Ethical Conduct on Research Involving Humans (TCPS2) in Canada, with full disclosure of potential risks to participants.

2.1.2 Arm Cycle Ergometer

Experimental data was recorded while the participant was seated on a computer operated, electromagnetically braked cycle ergometer, modified for arm cycling (Dynafit Pro; Racemate, Seattle, WA). All participants were seated in a padded armless chair, strapped with a secured belt, and positioned at a comfortable distance from the

33

crankshaft, such that the crank position on the opposite of one arm was close to full extension. The chair was adjusted so that the participants shoulders were approximately in line with the ergometer's axis of rotation. The participants also had their feet strapped to the floor to minimize movement. Ideal chair position was recorded for each participant and was used for each of their experimental sessions. During arm cycling, the biceps brachii are most active during the flexion phase, which is represented by a 6 o'clock crank position and the triceps brachii are most active during the static during extension phase, which is represented by a 12 o'clock crank position (Nippard et al., 2019) (See Figure 1 for details).

2.1.3 Maximal Voluntary Contractions

For every session, after the participant was correctly positioned in the cycle ergometer, they performed a series of maximal voluntary isometric contractions (MVICs). All MVICs were performed on the cycle ergometer with the wheel locked in place, and the dominant arm in the target position (either 6 o'clock or 12 o'clock). The participants performed 3 MVICs at each position, lasting 5 seconds each, and the averaged MVIC at each position was calculated. During each MVIC, EMG data was recorded from the biceps brachii and the triceps brachii. For each participant, averaged MVIC EMG output was used to normalize the mean EMG data recorded during the WAnTs performed in the same session.

2.1.4 Arm Cycling WAnT

Each arm cycling WAnT consisted of a 10s warmup period at 60 rpm, followed by a 3s countdown (visual and auditory) prior to an electromagnetic brake applying a resistance of either 3%, 4%, or 5% of the participants body mass (BM) to the wheel of the cycle ergometer. As the braking force was applied each participant cycled with maximal effort for the full 30s duration. Cadence feedback was provided visually to the participants via a real-time on-screen display of their RPM and verbal encouragement was provided for the duration of the WAnT. During each WAnT, EMG data was recorded unilaterally or bilaterally from the biceps brachii and triceps brachii, which was later broken down into their 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock data for each rotational cycle.

2.1.5 Electromyography Recording

EMG data was recorded from the biceps brachii, and the lateral head of the triceps brachii, based on SENIAM guidelines (Hermens et al., 2000) for the dominant and nondominant arms using a CED 1902 and CED Power 1401 (Cambridge Electronic Designs, Cambridge, United Kingdom) amplifier data acquisition system and Spike 2 software (Cambridge Electronic Designs, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and sampled at 10 Hz. Each arm had disposable Ag-AgCl surface EMG electrodes (10 mm diameter; MediTraceTM 130 Foam Electrodes, Massachusetts, USA) placed in a bipolar arrangement over the mid-point of the muscle belly, in line with muscle fibres, with a ground electrode placed on the lateral epicondyle. In preparation for electrode placement, the target skin was shaved, abraded with Nuprep Skin Preparation Gel (Weaver and Company, Aurora, Colorado, USA), and cleaned with an isopropyl alcohol wipe.

2.1.6 Experimental Sessions

Each participant completed a total of 12 WaNTs, 3 in the familiarization session, and 9 across three experimental sessions (3 per session) with a minimum of 24 hours between each session. Participants completed a total of 4 sessions, a familiarization session followed by 3 experimental sessions, with 24 to 48 hours between sessions. During the familiarization session, participants completed a condensed version of all the tasks they would be asked to perform during the experimental sessions, consisting of elbow flexion and extension MVCs, 3 10s WAnTs at 3%, 4%, and 5% BM. Following the familiarization session, the participants randomly completed the remaining 3 experimental sessions consisting of isometric elbow flexion and extension MVICs at 12 o'clock and 6 o'clock respectively followed by 3 30s upper body WAnT at either 3%, 4%, or 5% of the participant's BM. Within each of the experimental sessions 2 parameters were randomized; The order in which the 3%, 4%, and 5% BW sessions would be (such as 3% BM in experimental session 1 4% BM in experimental session 2, and 5% BM in experimental session 3), and the order in which they performed the bilateral, unilateral dominant, and unilateral non-dominant WaNTs, Participants were prepped for biceps and triceps EMG for both arms and EMG was recorded from these muscles during all MVICs and upper body WAnTs in the experimental sessions. See Figure 1 for the experimental protocol.

2.1.7 Data Analysis

From the recorded EMG data, absolute values were plotted every 1ms and rectified and smoothed in Spike 2 with a time constant of 0.1s. Mean EMG was calculated bilaterally for each phase of interest for the triceps brachii and biceps brachii for all the WAnTs. Resulting data files were exported to Microsoft Excel for Mac 16.88 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond Washington) for further analysis. Average aggregate activation curves of the triceps brachii and biceps brachii at every 10ms of the first 3 complete cycles, middle 3 complete cycles, and final 3 compete cycles of each WAnT were generated by averaging absolute rectified EMG for the duration of each cycle. The resulting data was
smoothed and visualized using Microsoft Excel for Mac 16.88 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond Washington) as 12-line charts.

EMG data for the triceps brachii and biceps brachii in the dominant and nondominant arms was recorded throughout each WAnT. Each WAnT was segmented into 3 major sections, with each section consisting of 3 complete and continuous rotational cycles. The 3 major sections were 1) beginning (e.g. the first three full rotations during the WAnT), 2) middle (e.g. the middle three rotations during the WAnT), and 3) end (e.g. the final three rotations during the WAnT). Each cycle was further broken down into 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock phases. Mean EMG for the triceps brachii and biceps brachii was averaged for each phase during each rotation and averaged for each section. Rectified mean EMG was visualized in Excel for each participant for each of the experimental conditions for both the triceps brachii and biceps brachii. Rectified mean EMG was then normalized for each participant relative to their rectified mean MVIC EMG data collected at the beginning of each session. Biceps brachii EMG WAnT data was normalized to the 6 o'clock MVIC EMG data. Triceps brachii EMG WAnT data was normalized to the 12 o'clock MVIC EMG data. Normalized data was represented as a percentage of activation, relative to MVIC activation. Normalized EMG was further averaged to find the mean EMG activation across the study sample for the unilateral dominant, unilateral non-dominant, and bilateral triceps brachii and biceps brachii at the beginning 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock phase, the middle 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock phase, and end 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock phase for 3%, 4%, and 5% WAnTs. Standard deviation was calculated for each reported average.

The percentage change in activation for the triceps brachii and biceps brachii at 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock relative to their activation at the beginning phase of the WAnT was obtained by calculating the ratio of average EMG activity of the middle and end phases relative to the beginning phase. This was calculated at each WAnT intensity for the bilateral dominant, unilateral dominant, bilateral non-dominant, and unilateral non-dominant arms. The resulting ratios were visualized using Microsoft Excel for Mac 16.88 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond Washington) as 4 smoothed line graphs of change in activation across time, as the arm completes each cycle.

The percentage change in muscle activation for the triceps brachii and biceps brachii was used to assess the difference in activation between bilateral and unilateral trials by calculating the ratio of the muscle's bilateral activation, relative to its unilateral activation. This calculation was repeated for both the dominant and non-dominant arms at 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock across the beginning, middle, and end segments of the 3%, 4% and 5% WAnTs. The formula used was ((unilateral target muscle/bilateral target muscle)*100)-100. The results were visualized as two horizontal bar charts with standard error bars, using Microsoft Excel for Mac 16.88 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond Washington).

2.1.8 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 29.0.2.0 (SPSS for Mac, IMB Corporation, Armonk, NY). The percentage change in activation between the biceps and triceps brachii Statistical analyses were performed on normalized EMG data. A four-way ANOVA was used to evaluate the factors of ARM (unilateral dominant: UD, unilateral non-dominant; UND), bilateral dominant; BLD and bilateral non-dominant; BLND), INTENSITY (3%, 4%, and 5%), CRANK POSITION (6 and 12 o'clock) and WAnT section (beginning, middle and end) on EMG activity of the biceps and triceps brachii.

Statistical significance for all tests was set at $p \le 0.05$. If the ANOVA outcome was significant, pairwise comparisons were assessed post hoc using a Bonferroni correction. Partial eta-squared ($\eta^2 p$) measures indicating the magnitude of changes associated with significant main effects were provided and reported as small (<0.01), moderate (≥ 0.06), or large (≥ 0.14) (Cohen, 1992). The text and tables report data as mean \pm SD.

2.2 Results

All rectified and smoothed (0.1ms) cycling and isometric, and normalized data for biceps and triceps brachii EMG can be seen in Tables 1-3. Table 4 is a summary of the main effects, post hoc tests and percentage differences (if there was a significant difference). Table 5 is a summary of p-values for significant interactions. Figure 2 shows average rectified and smoothed (0.1ms) EMG profiles for the biceps and triceps brachii over one revolution (360°) and the duration of EMG for ARM, INTENSITY and WANT SECTION.

2.2.1 Main Effects

CRANK POSITION had a significant effect on EMG amplitude for the biceps brachii ($F_{(1, 2526)} = 816.091$, p = <0.001, partial $\eta^2 = 0.244$) and triceps brachii ($F_{(1, 2544)} =$ 216.091, p = <0.001, partial $\eta^2 = 0.078$), respectively during the WAnT. The post hoc test indicated that the normalized mean EMG amplitude for the biceps brachii was 165.9% larger at 6 o'clock compared to 12 o'clock and 54.1% larger at 12 o'clock compared to 6 o'clock for the triceps brachii.

INTENSITY had a significant effect on EMG amplitude for the biceps ($F_{(2, 2526)} = 15.305, p = <0.001$, partial $\eta^2 = 0.012$) and triceps ($F_{(2, 2544)} = 16.407, p = <0.001$, partial $\eta^2 = 0.013$) brachii, respectively during the WAnT. The post hoc test indicated that the

normalized mean EMG amplitude for both biceps and triceps brachii were 16.4% (p = <0.001) and 21.4% (p = <0.001) larger at 4%BM compared to 3%BM, respectively. Mean EMG amplitude for both biceps and triceps brachii were 22.4% (p = <0.001) and 13.9% (p = <0.001) larger at 5%BM compared to 3%BM, respectively. The mean EMG amplitude for the biceps (p = 0.452) and triceps (p = 0.206) brachii were not different between 4%BM and 5%BM.

ARM had a significant effect on EMG amplitude for the biceps ($F_{(3, 2526)} = 18.012$, $p = \langle 0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.021 \rangle$ and triceps ($F_{(3, 2544)} = 496.541, p = \langle 0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.021 \rangle$ 0.369) brachii, respectively during the WAnT. The post hoc test indicated that the normalized mean EMG amplitude for the biceps brachii was 17.4% (p = <0.001) larger for unilateral non-dominant arm compared to bilateral non-dominant arm and 33.2% (p= <0.001) larger for unilateral dominant arm compared to bilateral dominant arm. Normalized mean biceps brachii EMG for the unilateral dominant arm compared to the unilateral non-dominant arm (p = 0.213) and the bilateral non-dominant arm compared to the bilateral non-dominant arm (p = 0.722) were not significantly different. The post hoc indicated that the normalized mean EMG amplitude for the triceps brachii were 359.5% (p = <0.001) larger for the bilateral dominant arm compared to the bilateral non-dominant arm. The normalized mean EMG amplitude was 90.0% (p = <0.001) larger for the unilateral non-dominant arm compared to the bilateral non-dominant arm. The normalized mean EMG amplitude was 141.9% (p = <0.001) larger for the unilateral dominant arm compared to bilateral dominant arm. Normalized mean triceps brachii EMG for the unilateral dominant arm compared to the unilateral non-dominant arm (p = 0.183) was not significantly different.

WANT SECTION had a significant effect on EMG amplitude for the biceps ($F_{(2,2478)} = 3.843$, p = 0.022, partial $\eta^2 = 0.003$) but the triceps ($F_{(2,2496)} = 2.445$, p = 0.087, partial $\eta^2 = 0.002$) brachii. The post hoc test indicated that that normalized mean biceps brachii EMG amplitude was 11.3% (p = 0.016) larger for the middle section when compared to the beginning section. Comparisons made between mean normalized EMG amplitude for the beginning section compared to the end section (p = 0.225) and the middle compared to the end section (p = 0.511) were not significant.

2.2.2 Main Interaction Effects

There was no observed significant interaction for CRANK POSITION * INTENSITY * ARM for the biceps brachii ($F_{(6, 2526)} = 1.323$, p = 0.243, partial $\eta^2 = 0.003$) nor the triceps brachii ($F_{(6, 2544)} = 0.945$, p = 0.461, partial $\eta^2 = 0.002$) EMG.

There was a significant interaction for CRANK POSITION * ARM for the biceps $(F_{(3,2526)}=27.840, p = <0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.032)$ and triceps $(F_{(3,2544)}=14.466, p = <0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.017)$ brachii EMG amplitude. At 6 o'clock, mean normalized EMG of the arms decreased during a bilateral WAnT compared to a unilateral WAnT by 29.0% (p = <0.001) and 48.9 % (p = <0.001) for the biceps and triceps brachii, respectively. Mean normalized EMG of the dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm by 8.11% (p = 0.004) and 128.0% (p = <0.001) for the biceps and triceps brachii, respectively. At 12 o'clock, mean normalized EMG increased during a bilateral WAnT compared to unilateral WAnT by 31.9% (p = <0.001) for triceps brachii. Mean normalized EMG for the dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm decreased compared to unilateral WAnT by 31.9% (p = <0.001) for triceps brachii. Mean normalized EMG for the dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm decreased compared to unilateral WAnT by 31.9% (p = <0.001) for triceps brachii. Mean normalized EMG for the dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant arm decreased compared to non-dominant by 11.9% (p = <0.001) and 98% (p = <0.001) for the biceps and triceps brachii, respectively. At 12 o'clock, mean normalized to non-dominant by 11.9% (p = <0.001) and 98% (p = <0.001) for the biceps and triceps brachii, respectively. Furthermore, mean normalized EMG for unilateral arms, bilateral arms, the non-dominant arm, and the dominant arm increased at

6 o'clock compared to 12 o'clock by 222.3% (p = <0.001), 113.9% (p = <0.001), 140.4% (p = <0.001), and 195.0% (p = <0.001), respectively for the biceps brachii and decreased by 39.4% (p = <0.001), 31.8% (p = <0.001), 41.4% (p = <0.001), and 32.1% (p = <0.001) respectively for the triceps brachii.

There was a significant interaction for CRANK POSITION * INTENSITY for the biceps brachii ($F_{(2, 2526)} = 3.967$, p = 0.019, partial $\eta^2 = 0.003$) but not in the triceps brachii ($F_{(2, 2544)} = 1.369$, p = 0.254, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$). Normalized mean biceps brachii EMG increased at 6 o'clock compared to 12 o'clock by 164.6% (p = <0.001), 180.5% (p = <0.001), and 154.0% (p = <0.001) during the 3, 4, and 5% BM WAnT respectively. Furthermore, normalized mean biceps brachii EMG at 6 o'clock decreased from 3 to 4% BM WAnT by 12.6% (p = <0.001). Normalized mean biceps brachii EMG at 12 o'clock decreased from 3 to 4% BM WAnT by 17.6% (p = 0.001). Figure 3 shows delta changes (percentage) in mean normalized EMG amplitude between unilateral WAnTs and bilateral WAnTs for the biceps and triceps brachii in the dominant and non-dominant arms.

There was a significant interaction for INTENSITY * ARM for the biceps brachii $(F_{(6, 2526)} = 7.402, p = <0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.017)$ and triceps brachii $(F_{(6, 2544)} = 5.026, p = <0.001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = 0.012)$. Table 5 shows all interaction combinations and whether these interactions were significant. Normalized mean biceps brachii EMG for unilateral and non-dominant decreased from 3% to 4%BM WAnT by 7.55% (p = <0.001) and 20.0% (p = <0.001), respectively and unilateral from 4% to 5%BM WAnT by 18.9% (p = <0.001). Normalized mean biceps brachii EMG for unilateral and dominant all decreased from 3% to 5%BM WAnT by 12.9% (p = <0.001), 21.0% (p = <0.001), and 25.0% (p = <0.001), respectively. Normalized mean EMG for the biceps brachii during

bilateral WAnT decreased from 3% to 4% BM WAnT by 22.2% (p = <0.001) and increased from 4% to 5% BM WAnT by 19.8% (p = <0.001).

For the triceps brachii, mean normalized EMG for the unilateral arm, bilateral arm, non-dominant arm, and dominant arm decreased from 3% to 4% BM WAnT by 16.0% (p = <0.001), 18.7% (p = <0.001), 15.5% (p = <0.001), and 18.6% (p = <0.001), respectively and decreased from 3% to 5% by 4.6% (p = <0.001), 16.15% (p = <0.001), 1.12% (p = <0.001), and 15.35% (p = <0.001), respectively. Mean normalized EMG for the unilateral arm and bilateral arm increased from 4% to 5% BM WAnT by 13.7% (p = <0.001), 2.82% (p = <0.001), respectively. Furthermore, normalized EMG for the biceps brachii during bilateral compared to unilateral WAnTs at 3% and 4% BM decreased by 21.6% (p = <0.001) and 34% (p = <0.001). Normalized biceps brachii EMG for the dominant arm compared to the non-dominant arm increased at 4% BM WAnTs by 9.33% (p = 0.008).

Mean normalized EMG for the triceps brachii during bilateral WAnTs increased compared to unilateral WAnTs and normalized EMG for the dominant arm increased compared to non-dominant arm at 3%, 4%, 5% BM WAnTs by 45.9% (p = <0.001), 124.8% (p = <0.001), and 41.3% (p = <0.001) and 116.3% (p = <0.001), 27.8% (p = <0.001), and 87.5% (p = <0.001), respectively.

No significant interaction was observed for WAnT SECTION * INTENSITY * CRANK POSITION * ARM for the biceps brachii ($F_{(12, 2478)} = 0.582$, p = 0.859, partial $\eta^2 = 0.003$) nor the triceps brachii F(12, 2496) = 0.142, p = 1.000, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$. Furthermore, within the biceps brachii and triceps brachii, no significant interaction was shown for INTENSITY * CRANK POSITION * WANT SECTION ($F_{(4, 2478)} = 0.201$, p = 0.938, partial $\eta^2 = 0.000$); ($F_{(4, 2496)} = 0.351$, p = 0.844, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$), INTENSITY * ARM * WANT SECTION ($F_{(12, 2478)} = 0.210$, p = 0.998, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$); ($F_{(12, 2496)} = 0.221$, p = 0.998, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$), OR CRANK POSITION * ARM * WANT SECTION ($F_{(6, 2478)} = 0.492$, p = 0.815, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$); ($F_{(6, 2496)} = 0.301$, p = 0.937, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$).

There was a significant interaction observed for WAnT SECTION * CRANK POSITION ($F_{(2, 2478)} = 6.681$, p = <0.001, partial $\eta^2 = 0.005$), but not the WAnT SECTION * INTENSITY ($F_{(4, 2478)} = 0.411$, p = 0.801, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$) or WAnT SECTION * ARM ($F_{(6,2478)} = 0.141$, p = 0.991, partial $\eta^2 = 0.000$) for the biceps brachii EMG amplitude output. Comparing mean normalized EMG for WAnT SECTION * CRANK POSITION, the biceps brachii EMG during the beginning, middle, and end increased at 6 o'clock compared to 12 o'clock by 131.5% (p = <0.001), 165.8 (p = <0.001), and 206.4% (p =<0.001), respectively. Going from the beginning section to the middle section the biceps brachii mean normalized EMG for the 6 o'clock position increased by 15.95% (p = <0.001). Going from the middle section to the end section normalized mean EMG for the 12 o'clock positions decreased by 13.8% (p = <0.001). Going from the beginning to the end section normalized mean EMG values for the 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock position increased by and 15.15% (p = <0.001) and decreased by 13.05% (p = <0.001), respectively. See Figure 4 for average change in normalized EMG amplitude at each crank position for the middle and end segments, expressed as a percentage of the beginning 6 and 12 o'clock positions at each WAnT intensity.

There was no significant interactions were observed for WAnT SECTION * INTENSITY ($F_{(4, 2496)} = 0.345$, p = 0.848, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$), WAnT SECTION * CRANK POSITION ($F_{(2, 2496)} = 0.476$, p = 0.621, partial $\eta^2 = 0.000$), or WAnT SECTION * ARM ($F_{(6, 2496)} = 0.437$, p = 0.855, partial $\eta^2 = 0.001$) for triceps brachii EMG amplitude output.

2.3 Discussion

The most important findings of this study were that during arm cycling: 1) EMG muscle activity looks fundamentally different depending on the muscle in question, the crank position of the arm, the intensity at which the muscles have to work at, and if the arms are moving bilaterally or unilaterally, 2) with few exceptions, the duration of a rotation, expressed as time, and correlated with fatigue (as a participant fatigued, each rotation took longer to complete) time did not meaningfully affect the mean EMG amplitude when comparing beginning, middle, and end to each other, and 3) from the tested resistances there is a maximum resistance at which arms can cycle against to obtain the greatest EMG amplitude and going beyond this resistance will not lead to a further increase in EMG amplitude. These findings show that EMG amplitude during 30s maximal arm cycling is highly dependent on phase, resistance, and arm. In a single sentence, within this study, the aspects most impactful on mean EMG of the biceps and triceps brachii were arm dominance, and if the task was performed unilaterally or bilaterally, crank position, and fatigue (indicated by time) did not affect mean EMG.

2.3.1 EMG amplitude during WAnT is highly influenced by intensity, crank position, and arm, but not WAnT section.

In the current study, EMG amplitude was highly affected by the intensity of a given WAnT, whether the arm was at the 6 or 12 o'clock position, and whether the participant was cycling unilaterally with their dominant or non-dominant arm. For the biceps brachii, crank position had the greatest effect (partial $\eta^2 = 0.244$) on EMG amplitude. Furthermore,

biceps brachii peak activation during maximal elbow flexion occurred at full flexion (6 o'clock) and then deactivated and reached its lowest point of activation during maximal elbow extension (12 o'clock) (Yu et al., 2022; Date et al., 2021).

Conversely, the single most impactful factor for the triceps brachii EMG during the WAnT was ARM (partial $\eta^2 = 0.369$). Similar to the study by Krzysztofik et al. (2021), this study also showed that the triceps brachii were more active in the dominant arm, when compared to the non-dominant arm. Interestingly, the findings in this study disagree with those of Kuhtz-Buschbeck and Keller (2019) and Oyama and Sako (2015), where they saw similar levels of activity between dominant and non-dominant arms and greater levels of co-contraction in the non-dominant arms compared to the dominant arm, respectively. This discrepancy in findings may have been due to the experimental activity selected, suggesting that motor activation strategies employed by the dominant and non-dominant arms may be different for locomotor tasks, when compared to non-locomotor tasks. When looking at activation of the triceps brachii across unilateral and bilateral conditions, there was less consistency whether unilateral or bilateral activation led to an increase in EMG activity. Unilateral non-dominant activity was greater than bilateral non-dominant activity by 90%, which disagrees with the findings of Nadzalan et al., (2019) where they found no significant difference between bilateral and unilateral triceps brachil activation. However, when comparing bilateral dominant to unilateral dominant arm, there was an increase in the bilateral arms by 141.9%. This falls in line with the increase in activation observed during bilateral tasks by Serrau et al. (2011).

2.3.2 The biceps and triceps brachii are recruited differently within the WAnT.

Within this study, the triceps and biceps were shown to be recruited differently during the WAnT. The activation of the triceps brachii exhibits different phase dependent patterns than the biceps brachii (Chaytor et al., 2020). This is clearly shown in Figures 2 and 4. While the biceps brachii were shown to have significant fluctuations in their EMG amplitude, the triceps brachii did not demonstrate the same EMG activation peaks and troughs. Rather, when the triceps brachii were active, they maintained a much flatter activation peak, which was most notable during unilateral WAnTs. The biceps brachii is a flexor muscle (Tiwana et al., 2018), and the triceps brachii is an antagonistic extensor muscle to the biceps (C. W. Moore & Rice, 2017). The difference in EMG activation curves demonstrate that the triceps brachii was not recruiting and de-recruiting completely complimentary to the biceps brachii. More specifically, when the triceps brachii was active, they reached their peak at the expected 12 o'clock position, however, during peak elbow flexion, they did not fully turn off. Instead, once the triceps turned on, they remained on, even when the biceps brachii were at peak activation. The flatter nature of the triceps brachii EMG amplitudes for most conditions, is consistent with the idea that the triceps brachii acts as a stabilizing muscle (Moore et al., 1985) during arm-cycling during submaximal (Chaytor et al., 2020), and as we show here, maximal intensity.

A potential physiological reason for the differences seen between biceps and triceps brachii EMG could be due to the difference in muscle fibre distribution between them (Elder et al., 1982). Looking at animal models, there is evidence that shows the triceps brachii has a larger amount of slow twitch (type I) muscle fibers in comparison to the biceps brachii (Morton et al. 1984; Van Den Hoven et al., 1985; Roy et al., 1984). Looking at the EMG profile curves (Figure 2), the biceps brachii has a more distinct on and off pattern when compared to the triceps brachii, since fast twitch (type II) muscle fibers are more suited to rapid, explosive on/off activations as opposed to slow twitch muscle fibres, which are better suited to more sustained activation patterns (Colliander et al., 1988). The biceps brachii shows a much steeper slope, culminating in a pronounced peak, followed by decruitment, which is more in-line with the recruitment curve for fast twitch fibres (Maglischo, E.W., 2011). Whereas the triceps brachii recruitment slope is shallower, leading to more of a plateau, than a pronounced peak, which is more in line with the recruitment curve of slow twitch fibres (Maglischo, E.W. 2011). The differing proportions of type I and type II muscle fibers are a potential explanation for the differing EMG profile differences of the biceps brachii and triceps brachii during a 30s WAnT; where the biceps brachii are primary cyclical movers and the triceps brachii are primarily stabilizing the movement.

2.3.3 Time does not completely account for changes in EMG amplitude when considering fatigue development during a 30s WAnT.

Within the confines of this study, WAnT section did not significantly impact mean EMG amplitude, apart from the biceps brachii from the beginning (first three complete cycles) to middle section (middle three complete cycles) of the WAnT. This shows that neural drive to both the biceps and triceps brachii remains relatively constant when performing a 30s WAnT. Additionally, the observed deficit or facilitation remains relatively consistent across beginning, middle, and end segments (Figure 3). The similar EMG outputs for beginning, middle, and end segments of the WAnTs suggest that neural drive remains relatively consistent, even as the participant fatigues. However, Figure 2

highlights a potential issue or consideration to make when only utilizing mean EMG amplitude during a fatiguing task. While the amplitudes may have been similar for beginning, middle, and end segments, when plotted, the duration of each cycle increased with as time progressed, indicating an increase with fatigue. The observation of mean EMG remaining similar across time, but each cycle taking longer to suggests that while the neural drive may be similar from beginning to end, fatigue is occurring as each rotation takes longer to complete. Suggesting that, if the fatigue indicated by the slower movement speed is a primary consideration during a study, it may be more relevant to assess area under the curve, in addition to EMG amplitude.

2.3.4 There is likely an optimal WAnT resistance for generating maximal neural drive.

Within this study, there was a clear increase in EMG amplitude seen from 3% BW WAnTs compared to the 4% BW WAnTs, which supports the notion that as intensity (in this case resistance) of activity increases, so do the neural drive required to perform the task (Miller et al., 2020; Tøien et al., 2021). However, an interesting finding was that when comparing the 4% BW WAnTs to the 5% BW WAnTs, a decrease in EMG amplitude occurred. This finding indicates that there appears to be maximum output for effort to drive the biceps and triceps brachii for a given task (not designed to result in failure) that has multiple resistances. During a given WAnT, if the resistance is set higher than what yields maximal EMG amplitude, EMG amplitude may decrease when compared to a lower resistance that was either at or below the optimal load intensity, as was observed in this study with the 4% and 5% BW WAnTs. Thus, there is an optimal resistance for generating

maximum drive to the biceps and triceps brachii (and potentially neural drive) and obtaining maximum EMG amplitude during an upper body WAnT.

2.3.5 EMG amplitudes are significantly different for the same muscle across unilateral and bilateral WAnTs.

While this study did not assess BLD in context of intensity or duration, there was a clear and evident difference in EMG activity when comparing the unilateral WAnTs to their bilateral counterparts. The delta EMG activity for each muscle along with intensity, clock phase, and section of the WAnT shown in Figure 3 illustrates whether an activation deficit or facilitation took place. The findings of this study are supported by previous studies that demonstrated that a BLD during dynamic movements can be observed by analyzing EMG data (Hay et al., 2006; Pleša et al., 2022). Additionally, the findings in this paper may add support to the notion that any resulting EMG BLD does not exist in isolation and can be influenced by body position (Škarabot et al., 2016). Variance in EMG deficit at varying intensities and between the dominant and non-dominant arms also supports the idea that BLD is the result of higher order neural processes (Škarabot et al., 2016). Specifically, the variance in observed EMG deficit supports the idea that one hemisphere is able to inhibit the other, leading to a reduction in EMG output (Škarabot et al., 2016). However, based on the variance observed in this study, that reduction may not be constant

As shown in Figure 3, across all the intensities aside from the 5% non-dominant 12 o'clock, the delta EMG was more pronounced for the triceps brachii than the biceps brachii. The triceps brachii exhibiting more pronounced EMG deltas, suggests that activity is more affected by unilateral/bilateral movements, when compared to the biceps brachii. Within the non-dominant arm, the triceps brachii demonstrated a negative delta from unilateral to bilateral WAnTs, indicating that it was more active unilaterally, as opposed to bilaterally. An increase in EMG activity of the agonist muscle during either contraction or extension is seen as co-contraction (Yoshitake et al., 2016) which could explain the observed delta EMG. When comparing the observed delta EMG across the dominant and non-dominant arms, the amplitude was reversed for all triceps brachii WAnT intensities, and all biceps brachii WAnT intensities at the 12 o'clock position, except for the beginning 3% WAnT. That is to say that if there was a negative delta for the dominant arm, the non-dominant arm showed a positive delta, and vice versa. This change in EMG delta across the non-dominant arms further supports the idea that activity pattens for the dominant and non-dominant arms may differ (Adam et al., 1998; Wang & Sainburg, 2007). If both arms expressed activity in the exact same pattern for the unilateral WAnTs compared to the bilateral WAnTs, then the EMG deltas for the dominant and non-dominant arms would have likely shared the same patterns.

2.4 Methodological considerations

The first main consideration was using normalized rectified mean EMG values for data analysis. This data analysis method was chosen because it allowed for normalization of each participants EMG data during cycling to their own isometric EMG data at both the 6 o'clock and 12 o'clock position (Burden, 2010). Normalizing the cyclical EMG value to the isometric values (peak biceps brachii to 6 o'clock MVIC and peak triceps brachii to 12 o'clock MVIC), allowed an estimate of the activity of the muscles for each participant (Norcross et al., 2009) and the generation of a reliable way to normalize means across all participants and create an aggregate mean at each trial (Knutson et al., 1994). This was necessary because activity and excitability do fluctuate between participant (Krause &

Kadosh, 2014; Metsomaa et al., 2021) and between days for within participant (Xu & Barak, 2017). Another method that could have been used to analyze the data was area under the curve. Using area under the curve is a method for analyzing EMG activity over the duration of a task. The resulting value is a function of EMG amplitude (mV) and time (s). Since time is accounted for with area under the curve, and not just voltage, the same normalization of utilizing a sustained MVIC would not be appropriate? for normalizing a cyclical movement, because one of the factors that creates the value (time) is not controlled for during a WAnT, which could result in different results.

Participants performed the WAnTs on a custom-built upper body cycle ergometer. The use of a cycle ergometer, specifically made for arm cycling, allowed for an effective way to ensure that trials were consistent across days and participants. This was aided by the harness attached to the seat, which limited excess upper body movement. Limiting unwanted movement during the WAnTs was a priority for this study because excess movement can sully the data obtained from the test (Lericollais et al., 2010). Additionally, the electromagnetic brake, featured on the cycle ergometer allowed for precise tuning of the resistance (Nayak et al., 2023) for each participant. However, it is unknow if the position of the participant relative to the arm crank allows for optimal power production during the WAnT. This would affect EMG activity of the muscles used in the arm cycling task.

Trial intensities were another consideration within this study. This was the first time our lab had performed a unilateral WAnT. While resistance intensities for leg cycling WAnTs can reach as high as 10%BM (Jaafar et al., 2015), a maximum intensity of 5%BW was decided in part due to it being the standard bilateral arm cycling WAnT resistance used

52

in the lab (Pearcy et al. 2016), and partly because it was not too challenging to perform unilaterally. If the intensities were higher than 5%, the results may have been different. Furthermore, unilateral cycling at resistances beyond 5% BW may be too high to complete a WAnT.

All WAnT experiments were quasi-randomized whereby the participant completed 3 WAnTs per experiment at the same resistances and the arm was randomized. If the experiment was completely randomized the results may have differed, since each participant may not have performed all of 3%, 4%, or 5%BM sessions or the all of the unilateral dominant, unilateral non-nondominant, or bilateral WaNTs for each session.

A 20-minute recovery period was selected due to the fatiguing nature of the WAnTs, both centrally and peripherally (Fernandez-del-Olmo et al., 2011). While fatigue was expected over the course of a WAnT, it was imperative to minimize the chance of fatigue from one WAnT affecting subsequent WAnTs. As such, 20 minutes was chosen as a slightly longer passive rest period compared to other studies (Kirkpatrick & Burrus, 2019) to ensure each participant had enough time to properly recover before starting the next WAnT. However, simply looking at EMG values cannot say for certain that some level of fatigue occurred from one WAnT to the next, even with 20 minutes of rest between them. Having a starting power output would determine this, however power data was not available for this study. If there was overall fatigue it may have affected the study's outcomes.

Lastly, this study predominantly sampled from a right arm dominant population. While there are asymmetries in the motor cortex between left and right arm dominant individuals (Amunts et al., 1996b), it is unclear if evenly including left-handed and righthanded participants would have affected the study. Since only 12 participants had enough data completed to use for the entirety of this study, there were not enough participants to look at sex differences, nor were there sufficient participants to assess whether there would be a difference between untrained and trained participants.

2.5 Conclusion

This study demonstrated that EMG amplitude over the course of a fatiguing arm cycling task is highly dependent on crank position, applied resistance, and whether the task is performed with the dominant arm, non-dominant arm, or bilaterally with both arms. Fatigue was clearly observable when looking at the raw EMG curve, since each rotation increased in duration over the course of the WAnT. This study was also the first of its nature to clearly outline that a delta in EMG activity exists between unilateral and bilateral arm cycling. This finding added further support for a BLD/BLF being observable by EMG during a dynamic task.

Further research could be useful to determine if the different activation strategies are also observed in male and female populations, or a trained and untrained population. Lastly, while delta EMG amplitude for the biceps and triceps brachii from unilateral to bilateral WAnTs was observed within the EMG profiles of this study, it was not assessed based on performance measures. As such, an interesting avenue for future research would be to fully assess WAnT EMG profiles along with performance measures for BLD/BLF and determine which factor; arm dominance, intensity, sex, WAnT segment (fatigue) have the greatest impact on BLD/BLF.

- Adam, A., & De Luca, C. (2003). Recruitment order of motor units in human vastus lateralis muscle is maintained during fatiguing contractions. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 90 5, 2919-27. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.00179.2003.
- Adam, A., De Luca, C. J., & Erim, Z. (1998). Hand dominance and motor unit firing behavior. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 80(3), 1373–1382. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.80.3.1373.
- Adams, G. R., Duvoisin, M. R., & Dudley, G. A. (1992). Magnetic resonance imaging and electromyography as indexes of muscle function. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 73(4), 1578–1583. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1992.73.4.1578.
- Ahamed, N. U., Sundaraj, K., Ahmad, R. B., Rahman, M., Ali, A., & Islam, A. (2012).
 Electromyographic Responses during Elbow Movement at Two Angles with Voluntary Contraction: Influences of Muscle Activity on Upper Arm Biceps Brachii. *Research Journal of Applied Sciences Engineering and Technology*, 4(22), 4591–

4595. https://dspace.daffodilvarsity.edu.bd:8080/handle/20.500.11948/3234.

Ahamed, N. U., Sundaraj, K., Ahmad, B., Rahman, M., Islam, A., & Ali, A. (2013). Surface Electromyography Assessment of the *Biceps Brachii* Muscle between the Endplate Region and Distal Tendon Insertion: Comparison in Terms of Gender, Dominant Arm and Contraction. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, 25(1), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1589/jpts.25.3.

- Ahmadi, H., Herat, N., Alizadeh, S., Button, D. C., Granacher, U., & Behm, D. G. (2021). Effect of an inverted seated position with upper arm blood flow restriction on measures of elbow flexors neuromuscular performance. *PloS one*, *16*(5), e0245311. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245311
- Akaboshi, K., Masakado, Y., & Chino, N. (2000). Quantitative EMG and motor unit recruitment threshold using a concentric needle with quadrifilar electrode. *Muscle & Nerve*, 23. 3.0.CO;2-O" target="_blank">https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4598(200003)23:3<361::AID-MUS7>3.0.CO;2-O.
- Alizadeh, S., Edwards, P. F., Lockyer, E. J., Holmes, M. W. R., Power, K. E., Behm, D. G., & Button, D. C. (2024). Neuromechanical Differences between Pronated and Supinated Forearm Positions during Upper-Body Wingate Tests. *Journal of sports science & medicine*, 23(2), 396–409. https://doi.org/10.52082/jssm.2024.396
- Alizadeh, S., Vardy, L., Forman, G. N., Forman, D. A., Holmes, M. W. R., & Button, D.
 C. (2023). Sex Difference in Lower-limb Electromyography and Kinematics when Using Resistance Bands during a Barbell Back Squat. *Journal of human kinetics*, 86, 17–29. https://doi.org/10.5114/jhk/159585
- Amunts, K., Schlaug, G., Schleicher, A., Steinmetz, H., Dabringhaus, A., Roland, P. E., & Zilles, K. (1996b). Asymmetry in the human motor cortex and handedness. *NeuroImage*, 4(3), 216–222. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1996.0073.
- Antolinez, A. K., Edwards, P. F., Holmes, M. W. R., Beaudette, S. M., & Button, D. C.
 (2024). The Effects of Load, Crank Position, and Sex on the Biomechanics and Performance during an Upper Body Wingate Anaerobic Test. *Medicine and science*

in sports and exercise, *56*(8), 1422–1436. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000003436

- Arabadzhiev, T., Dimitrov, V., Dimitrova, N., & Dimitrov, G. (2009). Influence of motor unit synchronization on amplitude characteristics of surface and intramuscularly recorded EMG signals. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108, 227-237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-009-1206-3
- Arslan, C. (2005). RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE 30-SECOND WINGATE TEST AND CHARACTERISTICS OF ISOMETRIC AND EXPLOSIVE LEG STRENGTH IN YOUNG SUBJECTS. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 19, 658–666. https://doi.org/10.1519/14533.1
- Baltzopoulos, V., & Brodie, D. A. (1989). Isokinetic dynamometry. Applications and limitations. Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.), 8(2), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-198908020-00003
- Bar-Or, O. (1987). The Wingate anaerobic test. An update on methodology, reliability and validity. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 4(6), 381–394. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-198704060-00001
- Beurskens, R., Gollhofer, A., Muehlbauer, T., Cardinale, M., & Granacher, U. (2015). Effects of Heavy-Resistance Strength and Balance Training on Unilateral and Bilateral Leg Strength Performance in Old Adults. *PLoS ONE*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118535
- Bilodeau, M., Schindler-Ivens, S., Williams, D., Chandran, R., & Sharma, S. (2003). EMG frequency content changes with increasing force and during fatigue in the

quadriceps femoris muscle of men and women. Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 13 1, 83-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-6411(02)00050-0

- Biviá-Roig, G., Lisón, J., & Sánchez-Zuriaga, D. (2019). Determining the optimal maximal and submaximal voluntary contraction tests for normalizing the erector spinae muscles. *PeerJ*, 7. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7824
- Boyer, M., Bouyer, L., Roy, J. S., & Campeau-Lecours, A. (2023). Reducing Noise, Artifacts and Interference in Single-Channel EMG Signals: A Review. Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 23(6), 2927. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23062927
- Brown, P., Farmer, S., Halliday, D., Marsden, J., & Rosenberg, J. (1999). Coherent cortical and muscle discharge in cortical myoclonus. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, 122 (Pt 3), 461-72. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/122.3.461
- Burden, A. (2010). How should we normalize electromyograms obtained from healthy participants? What we have learned from over 25 years of research. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology*, 20 6, 1023-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.07.004
- Burden, A., & Bartlett, R. (1999). Normalisation of EMG amplitude: an evaluation and comparison of old and new methods. *Medical engineering & physics*, 21 4, 247-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1350-4533(99)00054-5
- Burden, A., Trew, M., & Baltzopoulos, V. (2003). Normalisation of gait EMGs: a reexamination. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the*

International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 13 6, 519-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-6411(03)00082-8

- Calancie, B., Needham-Shropshire, B., Jacobs, P., Willer, K., Zych, G., & Green, B. A. (1994). Involuntary stepping after chronic spinal cord injury. Evidence for a central rhythm generator for locomotion in man. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, *117 (Pt 5)*, 1143–1159. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/117.5.1143
- Calver, R., Cudlip, A., Dickerson, C., Mondal, P., Butcher, S., & Kim, S. (2023). A comparison of isometric and isokinetic normalization methods for electromyographic data from sub-regions of supraspinatus and infraspinatus during dynamic tasks. *International* Biomechanics, 10. 1 9. https://doi.org/10.1080/23335432.2023.2210634
- Carlson, J., & Naughton, G. (1994). Performance characteristics of children using various braking resistances on the wingate anaerobic test. *The Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness*, 34 4, 362-9
- Carr, J., Bemben, M., Black, C., Ye, X., & DeFreitas, J. (2020). Bilateral deficit in strength but not rapid force during maximal handgrip contractions. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 21, 836 - 843. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2020.1800104
- Castañeda-Babarro, A. (2021). The Wingate Anaerobic Test, a Narrative Review of the Protocol Variables That Affect the Results Obtained. *Applied Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11167417
- Chalard, A., Belle, M., Montané, E., Marque, P., Amarantini, D., & Gasq, D. (2020). Impact of the EMG normalization method on muscle activation and the antagonist-

agonist co-contraction index during active elbow extension: Practical implications for post-stroke subjects. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology*, 51, 102403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2020.102403

- Chaytor, C. P., Forman, D., Byrne, J., Loucks-Atkinson, A., & Power, K. E. (2020). Changes in muscle activity during the flexion and extension phases of arm cycling as an effect of power output are muscle-specific. *PeerJ*, 8, e9759. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9759
- Chtourou, H., Zarrouk, N., Chaouachi, A., Dogui, M., Behm, D., Chamari, K., Hug, F., & Souissi, N. (2011). Diurnal Variation in Wingate-Test Performance and Associated Electromyographic Parameters. *Chronobiology International*, 28, 706 - 713. https://doi.org/10.3109/07420528.2011.596295
- Chowdhury, R., Reaz, M., Ali, M., Bakar, A., Chellappan, K., & Chang, T. (2013). Surface Electromyography Signal Processing and Classification Techniques. Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 13, 12431 - 12466. https://doi.org/10.3390/s130912431
- Chuang, T., & Acker, S. (2019). Comparing functional dynamic normalization methods to maximal voluntary isometric contractions for lower limb EMG from walking, cycling and running. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal* of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 44, 86-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2018.11.014
- Clamann, P. (1993). Motor unit recruitment and the gradation of muscle force. *Physical therapy*, 73 12, 830-43. https://doi.org/10.1093/PTJ/73.12.830

- Clancy, E., & Hogan, N. (1997). Theoretic and experimental comparison of root-meansquare and mean-absolute-value electromyogram amplitude detectors. *Proceedings* of the 19th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 'Magnificent Milestones and Emerging Opportunities in Medical Engineering' (Cat. No.97CH36136), 3, 1267-1270 vol.3. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.1997.756605
- Clancy, E., & Hogan, N. (1999). Probability density of the surface electromyogram and its relation to amplitude detectors. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 46, 730-739. https://doi.org/10.1109/10.764949
- Clarke, A., Atashzar, S., Vecchio, A., Barsakcioglu, D., Muceli, S., Bentley, P., Urh, F., Holobar, A., & Farina, D. (2020). Deep Learning for Robust Decomposition of High-Density Surface EMG Signals. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 68, 526-534. https://doi.org/10.1109/TBME.2020.3006508
- Clarys, J., & Cabri, J. (1993). Electromyography and the study of sports movements: a review. *Journal of sports sciences*, 11 5, 379-448. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640419308730010
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *American Psychology Association*, 112(1), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jorganchem.2011.01.025
- Colliander, E. B., Dudley, G. A., & Tesch, P. A. (1988). Skeletal muscle fiber type composition and performance during repeated bouts of maximal, concentric contractions. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 58(1–2), 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00636607

61

- Collins, B. W., Pearcey, G. E. P., Buckle, N. C. M., Power, K. E., & Button, D. C. (2018).
 Neuromuscular fatigue during repeated sprint exercise: underlying physiology and methodological considerations. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme*, 43(11), 1166–1175. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0080
- Cotton-Barratt, O., MacAskill, W., & Ord, T. (2020). Statistical Normalization Methods in Interpersonal and Intertheoretic Comparisons. *The Journal of Philosophy*. https://doi.org/10.5840/jphil202011725
- Crowley, G., Garg, A., Lohn, M., Someren, N., & Wade, A. (1991). Effects of cooling the legs on performance in a standard Wingate anaerobic power test. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 25, 200 - 203. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.25.4.200
- Daley, J. T., & Kuna, S. T. (2009). Essentials of Polysomnography: A training guide and reference for sleep technicians. SLEEP, 32(12), 1649– 1650. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/32.12.1649
- Dankaerts, W., O'Sullivan, P., Burnett, A., Straker, L., & Danneels, L. (2004). Reliability of EMG measurements for trunk muscles during maximal and sub-maximal voluntary isometric contractions in healthy controls and CLBP patients. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology*, 14 3, 333-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JELEKIN.2003.07.001
- Delahunt, E., Callan, L., Donohoe, J., Melican, R., & Holden, S. (2013). The Yo-Yo intermittent recovery test level 1 as a high intensity training tool: aerobic and

anaerobic responses. *Preventive medicine*, 56 5, 278-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.01.010

- Dideriksen JL, Enoka RM, & Farina D. Neuromuscular adjustments that constrain submaximal EMG amplitude at task failure of sustained isometric contractions. J Appl Physiol (1985) 111: 485–494, 2011. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00186.2011
- Dideriksen, J., Vecchio, A., & Farina, D. (2019). Neural and muscular determinants of maximal rate of force development. *Journal of neurophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00330.2019
- Dieën, J., Ogita, F., & Haan, A. (2003). Reduced neural drive in bilateral exertions: a performance-limiting factor? *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 35 1, 111-8. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200301000-00018
- Dimitrova, N. A., & Dimitrov, G. V. (2003). Interpretation of EMG changes with fatigue: facts, pitfalls, and fallacies. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology*, *13*(1), 13–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1050-6411(02)00083-4
- Duchateau, J., & Baudry, S. (2014). The neural control of coactivation during fatiguing contractions revisited. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 24(6), 780– 788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2014.08.006
- Dunleavy, K. (2019). Introduction to therapeutic exercise for rehabilitation. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 2–11). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-28053-2.00001-6
- Dunstheimer, D., Hebestreit, H., Staschen, B., Strassburg, H., & Jeschke, R. (1999). Bilateral deficit during short-term, high-intensity cycle ergometry in girls and

boys. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 84, 557-561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004210100406

- Dupont, G., Moalla, W., Matran, R., & Berthoin, S. (2007). Effect of short recovery intensities on the performance during two Wingate tests. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 39 7, 1170-6. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0B013E31804C9976
- Elder, G. C., Bradbury, K., & Roberts, R. (1982). Variability of fiber type distributions within human muscles. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 53(6), 1473– 1480. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1982.53.6.1473
- Enoka, R., Robinson, G., & Kossev, A. (1989). Task and fatigue effects on low-threshold motor units in human hand muscle. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 62 6, 1344-59. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.1989.62.6.1344
- Ertaş, M., Stålberg, E., & Falck, B. (1995). Can the size principle be detected in conventional emg recordings? *Muscle & Nerve*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880180410
- Farfán, F. D., Politti, J. C., & Felice, C. J. (2010). Evaluation of EMG processing techniques using Information Theory. *Biomedical engineering online*, 9, 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-925X-9-72
- Farina D. (2006). Interpretation of the surface electromyogram in dynamic contractions. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 34(3), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1249/00003677-200607000-00006

- Farina, D., Holobar, A., Merletti, R., & Enoka, R. (2010). Decoding the neural drive to muscles from the surface electromyogram. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 121, 1616-1623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.10.040
- Farina, D., Merletti, R., & Enoka, R. (2004). The extraction of neural strategies from the surface EMG. *Journal of applied physiology*, 96 4, 1486-95. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPLPHYSIOL.01070.2003
- Farina, D., Merletti, R., & Enoka, R. (2014). The extraction of neural strategies from the surface EMG: an update. *Journal of applied physiology*, 117 11, 1215-30. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00162.2014
- Fernandez-del-Olmo, M., Rodriguez, F. A., Marquez, G., Iglesias, X., Marina, M., Benitez, A., Vallejo, L., & Acero, R. M. (2011). Isometric knee extensor fatigue following a Wingate test: peripheral and central mechanisms. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 23(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01355.x
- Fernández-Del-Olmo, M., Rodríguez, F., Márquez, G., Iglesias, X., Marina, M., Benítez, A., Vallejo, L., & Acero, R. (2013). Isometric knee extensor fatigue following a Wingate test: peripheral and central mechanisms. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01355.x
- Forman, D., Monks, M., & Power, K. (2019). Corticospinal excitability, assessed through stimulus response curves, is phase-, task-, and muscle-dependent during arm

cycling. *Neuroscience Letters*, 692, 100-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.11.003

- Fountaine, Charles. (2018). Unilateral and bilateral exercise movements: Considerations
 for Program Design. ACSM's Health & Fitness Journal. 22. 11-16.
 10.1249/FIT.000000000000390
- Fuglevand, A., Zackowski, K., Huey, K., & Enoka, R. (1993). Impairment of neuromuscular propagation during human fatiguing contractions at submaximal forces. *The Journal of Physiology*, 460. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019486
- Galán-Rioja, M., González-Mohíno, F., Sanders, D., Mellado, J., & González-Ravé, J. (2020). Effects of Body Weight vs. Lean Body Mass on Wingate Anaerobic Test Performance in Endurance Athletes. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, 545 551. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1114-6206
- Germer, C., Farina, D., Elias, L., Nuccio, S., Hug, F., & Del Vecchio, A. (2021). Surface EMG crosstalk quantified at the motor unit population level for muscles of the hand, thigh, and calf. Journal of applied physiology. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01041.2020
- Glaser, V., Holobar, A., & Zazula, D. (2013). Real-Time Motor Unit Identification From High-Density Surface EMG. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation* Engineering, 21, 949-958. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2247631

66

- Gohel, V., & Mehendale, N. (2020). Review on electromyography signal acquisition and processing. Biophysical reviews, 12(6), 1361–1367. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-020-00770-w
- González-Izal, M., Malanda, A., Gorostiaga, E., & Izquierdo, M. (2012).
 Electromyographic models to assess muscle fatigue. *Journal of electromyography* and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 22(4), 501–512.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2012.02.019
- Gordon, T., Thomas, C., Munson, J., & Stein, R. (2004). The resilience of the size principle in the organization of motor unit properties in normal and reinnervated adult skeletal muscles. *Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology*, 82 8-9, 645-61. https://doi.org/10.1139/Y04-081
- Grant, M., Robergs, R., Baird, M., & Baker, J. (2014). The Effect of Prior Upper Body Exercise on Subsequent Wingate Performance. *BioMed Research International*, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/329328
- Green, J., Jr, J., Smith, J., & Mansfield, E. (2001). The Effects of Creatine Supplementation on Repeated Upper-and Lower-Body Wingate Performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 15, 36–41. 2.0.CO;2 https://doi.org/10.1519/1533-4287(2001)015<0036:TEOCSO>2.0.CO;2
- Griffin, D., Hudson, H., Belhaj-Saïf, A., McKiernan, B., & Cheney, P. (2008). Do corticomotoneuronal cells predict target muscle EMG activity? *Journal of neurophysiology*, 99 3, 1169-986. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.00906.2007

- Hager, R., Stites, A., Parcell, A., Hunter, I., Allsen, P., & George, J. (2011). Comparison Of The Effects Of High-resistance Cycle Training And Leg Press On Wingate Anaerobic Test, Strength, And Time-trial Performance: 2828. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43, 798. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000402220.53012.51
- Halaki, M., & Gi, K. (2012). Normalization of EMG Signals: To Normalize or Not to Normalize and What to Normalize to? *InTech.* doi: 10.5772/49957
- Harrison, N. R., & Ziessler, M. (2016). Effect Anticipation Affects Perceptual, Cognitive, and Motor Phases of Response Preparation: Evidence from an Event-Related Potential (ERP) Study. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00005
- Hay, D., De Souza, V. A., & Fukashiro, S. (2006). Human bilateral deficit during a dynamic multi-joint leg press movement. *Human Movement Science*, 25(2), 181– 191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2005.11.007
- Hebestreit, H., Dunstheimer, D., Staschen, B., & Strassburg, H. (1999). Single-leg Wingate
 Test in children: reliability and optimal braking force. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 31 8, 1218-25. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199908000-00021
- Hill, M., Walsh, S., Talbot, C., Price, M., & Duncan, M. (2019). Exercise intensitydependent effects of arm and leg-cycling on cognitive performance. *PLoS ONE*, 14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224092

- Hodder, J., & Keir, P. (2013). Obtaining maximum muscle excitation for normalizing shoulder electromyography in dynamic contractions. *Journal of electromyography* International and kinesiology: official journal of the Society of Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 23 5, 1166-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2013.06.012
- Hodson-Tole, E., & Wakeling, J. (2007). Variations in motor unit recruitment patterns occur within and between muscles in the running rat (Rattus norvegicus). *Journal* of Experimental Biology, 210, 2333 - 2345. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.004457
- Hodson-Tole, E., & Wakeling, J. (2008). Motor unit recruitment for dynamic tasks: current understanding and future directions. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B*, 179, 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-008-0289-1
- Hosler, W., & Morrow, J. (1982). Arm and leg strength compared between young women and men after allowing for differences in body size and composition. *Ergonomics*, 25 4, 309-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140138208924958
- Hug F, Goupille C, Baum D, Raiteri BJ, Hodges PW, Tucker K. Nature of the coupling between neural drive and force-generating capacity in the human quadriceps muscle. Proc Biol Sci 282: 20151908, 2015. doi:10.1098/rspb.2015.1908
- Hunter, S., & Enoka, R. (2003). Changes in muscle activation can prolong the endurance time of a submaximal isometric contraction in humans. *Journal of applied physiology*, 94 1, 108-18. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPLPHYSIOL.00635.2002

- Hunter, A., Gibson, A., Lambert, M., & Noakes, T. (2002). Electromyographic (EMG) normalization method for cycle fatigue protocols. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 34 5, 857-61. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200205000-00020
- Hunter, A., Gibson, A., Lambert, M., Nobbs, L., & Noakes, T. (2003). Effects of supramaximal exercise on the electromyographic signal. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37, 296 - 299. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.37.4.296
- Jaafar, H., Rouis, M., Attiogbé, E., Vandewalle, H., & Driss, T. (2015). A comparative study between the Wingate and Force–Velocity Anaerobic cycling Tests: Effect of Physical fitness. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 11(1), 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2015-0063
- Jaafar, H., Rouis, M., Coudrat, L., Attiogbé, E., Vandewalle, H., & Driss, T. (2014). Effects of Load on Wingate Test Performances and Reliability. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 28, 3462–3468. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000000575
- Jakobi, J., & Chilibeck, P. (2001). Bilateral and unilateral contractions: possible differences in maximal voluntary force. *Canadian journal of applied physiology = Revue canadienne de physiologie appliquee*, 26 1, 12-33. https://doi.org/10.1139/H01-002
- Janzen, C., Chilibeck, P., & Davison, K. (2006). The effect of unilateral and bilateral strength training on the bilateral deficit and lean tissue mass in post-menopausal women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 97, 253-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0165-1

70

- Jodra, P., Domínguez, R., Sánchez-Oliver, A., Veiga-Herreros, P., & Bailey, S. (2020). Effect of Beetroot Juice Supplementation on Mood, Perceived Exertion and Performance During a 30 s Wingate Test. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2019-0149
- Karimimehr, S., Marateb, H., Muceli, S., Mansourian, M., Mañanas, M., & Farina, D. (2017). A Real-Time Method for Decoding the Neural Drive to Muscles Using Single-Channel Intra-Muscular EMG Recordings. *International journal of neural systems*, 27 6, 1750025. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0129065717500253
- Kern, H., Stuart, E., Hill, J., & Green, D. (2016). Assessing Methods for Generalizing Experimental Impact Estimates to Target Populations. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 9, 103 127. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2015.1060282
- Khanam, F., Rahman, M., & Ahmad, M. (2015). A mathematical approach to determine the work-done from EMG analysis. 2015 2nd International Conference on Electrical Information and Communication Technologies (EICT), 178-182. https://doi.org/10.1109/EICT.2015.7391942
- Kirkpatrick, M., & Burrus, B. (2019). Effects of recovery type on blood lactate and performance in repeated Wingate tests in females. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 16(3), 207–216. https://doi.org/10.3920/cep190053
- Knutson, L., Soderberg, G., Ballantyne, B., & Clarke, W. (1994). A study of various normalization procedures for within day electromyographic data. *Journal of electromyography and kinesiology: official journal of the International Society of*

Electrophysiological Kinesiology, 4 1, 47-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/1050-6411(94)90026-4

- Koh, T., Grabiner, M., & Clough, C. (1993). Bilateral deficit is larger for step than for ramp isometric contractions. *Journal of applied physiology*, 74 3, 1200-5. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPL.1993.74.3.1200
- Krause, B., & Kadosh, R. C. (2014). Not all brains are created equal: the relevance of individual differences in responsiveness to transcranial electrical stimulation. *Frontiers* in Systems Neuroscience, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00025
- Krops, L., Albada, T., Woude, L., Hijmans, J., & Dekker, R. (2017). Anaerobic exercise testing in rehabilitation: A systematic review of available tests and protocols. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*, 49 4, 289-303. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-2213
- Krzysztofik, M., Jarosz, J., Matykiewicz, P., Wilk, M., Bialas, M., Zajac, A., & Golas, A. (2021). A comparison of muscle activity of the dominant and non-dominant side of the body during low versus high loaded bench press exercise performed to muscular failure. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 56, 102513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2020.102513
- Kuhtz-Buschbeck, J. P., & Keller, P. (2019). Muscle activity in throwing with the dominant and non-dominant arm. *Cogent Medicine*, 6(1), 1678221. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331205x.2019.1678221
- Kuruganti, U., Murphy, T., & Pardy, T. (2011). Bilateral deficit phenomenon and the role of antagonist muscle activity during maximal isometric knee extensions in young, athletic men. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111, 1533-1539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1752-8
- Lad, P., Patil, D., Patil, S., & Chotai, K. (2021). EMG Analysis of Dominant and Non-Dominant Arm of Latissimus Dorsi Muscles in Bowlers of Karad, Maharashtra, India. Journal of Evolution of Medical and Dental Sciences. https://doi.org/10.14260/jemds/2021/630
- Lehman, G., & McGill, S. (1999). The importance of normalization in the interpretation of surface electromyography: a proof of principle. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 22 7, 444-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0161-4754(99)70032-1
- Lericollais, R., Gauthier, A., Bessot, N., & Davenne, D. (2010). Diurnal evolution of cycling biomechanical parameters during a 60-s Wingate test. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 21(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01172.x
- Leske, S., & Dalal, S. (2019). Reducing power line noise in EEG and MEG data via spectrum interpolation. NeuroImage, 189, 763-776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.01.026
- Lovell, D., Mason, D., Delphinus, E., & Mclellan, C. (2011). A comparison of asynchronous and synchronous arm cranking during the Wingate test. *International*

journal of sports physiology and performance, 6 3, 419-26. https://doi.org/10.1123/IJSPP.6.3.419

- Lynch, N., Lynch, N., Metter, E., Lindle, R., Fozard, J., Tobin, J., Roy, T., Fleg, J., & Hurley, B. (1999). Muscle quality. I. Age-associated differences between arm and leg muscle groups. *Journal of applied physiology*, 86 1, 188-94. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPL.1999.86.1.188
- Lunde, M., & O'kroy, J. (2016). Effects of Excessive Body Weight on Wingate Test Performance: 3574 Board #13 June 4, 8: 00 AM - 9: 30 AM. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000487977.60927.ef

Maglischo, E.W. (2011). Training Fast Twitch Muscle Fibers: Why and How.

- Matthews, J. N. S., & Altman, D. G. (1996). Statistics Notes: Interaction 2: compare effect sizes not P values. *BMJ*, 313(7060), 808. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.313.7060.808
- Maud, P., & Shultz, B. (1989). Norms for the Wingate anaerobic test with comparison to another similar test. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport*, 60 2, 144-51. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1989.10607429
- Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. (2019, May 21). *Electromyography (EMG)*. Mayo Clinic. https://www.mayoclinic.org/testsprocedures/emg/about/pac-20393913
- Mcmanus, L., Hu, X., Rymer, W., Lowery, M., & Suresh, N. (2015). Changes in motor unit behavior following isometric fatigue of the first dorsal interosseous

74

muscle. Journal of neurophysiology, 113 9, 3186-96. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00146.2015

- Metsomaa, J., Belardinelli, P., Ermolova, M., Ziemann, U., & Zrenner, C. (2021). Causal decoding of individual cortical excitability states. *NeuroImage*, 245, 118652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118652
- Miljković, N., Popovic, N., Djordjević, O., Konstantinović, L., & Šekara, T. (2017). ECG artifact cancellation in surface EMG signals by fractional order calculus application. Computer methods and programs in biomedicine, 140, 259-264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2016.12.017
- Miller, J. D., Lippman, J. D., Trevino, M. A., & Herda, T. J. (2020). Neural Drive is Greater for a High-Intensity Contraction Than for Moderate-Intensity Contractions Performed to Fatigue. *The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 34(11), 3013–3021. https://doi.org/10.1519/jsc.000000000003694
- Moore, K. L., Dalley, A. F., & Agur, A. M. R. (1985). *Clinically oriented anatomy*. http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BB24930664
- Moore, C. W., & Rice, C. L. (2017). Rare muscular variations identified in a single cadaveric upper limb: a four-headed biceps brachii and muscular elevator of the latissimus dorsi tendon. *Anatomical Science International*, 93(2), 311– 316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12565-017-0408-8
- Morris, M., Dawes, H., Howells, K., Scott, O., Cramp, M., & Izadi, H. (2010). Muscle contractile characteristics: relationship to high-intensity exercise. *European*

Journal of Applied Physiology, 110, 295-300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1496-5

- Morton, D. J., & Harris, R. C. (1984). Muscle fibre types and their distribution in the biceps and triceps brachii of the rat and rabbit. The Journal of Anatomy, 192(2), 269-277
- Mushtaq, H., & Chawla, S. (2016). EMG analysis of selected calf muscles in relation to clubfoot patient: A case study. *International Journal of Orthopaedics Sciences*, 2, 113-116
- Myers, L., & O'Malley, M. (2003). The relationship between human cortico-muscular coherence and rectified EMG. *First International IEEE EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering*, 2003. Conference Proceedings., 289-292. https://doi.org/10.1109/CNE.2003.1196817
- Nadzalan, A. M., Mohamad, N. I., Ishak, A., Malik, Z. A., Chik, W. F. W., & Muthusamy, S. (2019). Muscle Activation during Unilateral and Bilateral Biceps Curl Exercises among Trained Men. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering* (*IJRTE*), 8(3), 3381–3383. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijrte.c5025.098319
- Nakachi, E., George, J., Parcell, A., Eggett, D., & Feland, B. (2019). Power Output in Rugby Players Comparing Unilateral and Bilateral Isotonic Upper-body Resistance Exercise. *International journal of exercise science*, 12, 691-700
- Naughton, G., Carlson, J., & Fairweather, I. (1992). Determining the variability of performance on Wingate anaerobic tests in children aged 6-12 years. *International journal of sports medicine*, 13 7, 512-7. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-2007-1021308

- Nayak, D., Samal, S., Mallick, B. K., Kumar, V., & Panda, S. K. (2023). DESING OF ELECTROMAGNETIC BRAKING SYSTEM. International Research Journal of Modernization in Engineering Technology and Science. https://doi.org/10.56726/irjmets43060
- Neptune, R., & Herzog, W. (2000). Adaptation of muscle coordination to altered task mechanics during steady-state cycling. *Journal of biomechanics*, 33 2, 165-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9290(99)00149-9
- Nippard, A., Lockyer, E., Button, D., & Power, K. (2018). Corticospinal and Spinal Excitability to the Biceps and Triceps Brachii is Modulated Differently between Forward and Backward Arm Cycling. *The FASEB Journal*, 33. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2019.33.1_supplement.556.1
- Nippard, A., Lockyer, E., Button, D., & Power, K. (2019). Corticospinal excitability to the biceps and triceps brachii during forward and backward arm cycling is directionand phase-dependent. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme*. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2019-0043
- Niu, W., Wang, Y., He, Y., Fan, Y., & Zhao, Q. (2011). Kinematics, kinetics, and electromyogram of ankle during drop landing: a comparison between dominant and non-dominant limb. *Human movement science*, 30 3, 614-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2010.10.010
- Norcross, M. F., Blackburn, J. T., & Goerger, B. M. (2009). Reliability and interpretation of single leg stance and maximum voluntary isometric contraction methods of

electromyography normalization. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 20(3), 420–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2009.08.003

- Obmiński, Z., Borkowski, L., & Ładyga, M. (2015). Anaerobic capacities and blood lactate responses to wingate tests in male greco-roman wrestlers. *Journal of combat sports and martial arts*, 6, 43-47. https://doi.org/10.5604/20815735.1193043
- Okano, A., Moraes, A., Bankoff, A., Cyrino, E., Simões, H., Pezarat-Correia, P., Barbieri,
 J., Teodoro, C., & Gáspari, A. (2017). Varied EMG responses of the quadriceps
 muscle during a Wingate anaerobic test. *Manual Therapy, Posturology & Rehabilitation Journal,*

15. https://doi.org/10.17784/MTPREHABJOURNAL.2017.15.458

- Oo, T., & Phukpattaranont, P. (2022). SNR estimation in EMG signals contaminated with motion artifact. 2022 14th Biomedical Engineering International Conference (BMEiCON), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1109/BMEiCON56653.2022.10012080
- Owings, T., & Grabiner, M. (1998). Fatigue effects on the bilateral deficit are speed dependent. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 30 8, 1257-62. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199808000-00012
- Owings, T., & Grabiner, M. (1998). Normally aging older adults demonstrate the bilateral deficit during ramp and hold contractions. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*, 53 6, B425-9. https://doi.org/10.1093/GERONA/53A.6.B425

- Oyama, T., & Sako, A. (2015). *Difference in bi-articular muscle during postural fixation between dominant and non-dominant arms* (pp. 707–708). IEEE Computer Society. https://doi.org/10.1109/iiai-aai.2015.187
- Papathanasiou, E., & Zamba-Papanicolaou, E. (2013). Single fiber electromyography:
 What type of needle should I use? *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 124, 2077-2078. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2013.05.018
- Parisi, A., & Allen, G. (1994). A computerized acquisition technique for the Wingate anaerobic test. *Computers in biology and medicine*, 24 1, 61-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-4825(94)90037-X
- Park, E., & Meek, S. (1993). Fatigue compensation of the electromyographic signal for prosthetic control and force estimation. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 40, 1019-1023. https://doi.org/10.1109/10.247800
- Parten, A., Barker, G., O'Neal, E., & Waldman, H. (2023). Seven-Week Accommodating Resistance Training Improves Wingate Peak Power But Not Muscular Strength or Endurance in Strength-Trained Females. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 37, 1789 - 1794. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000004473
- Patton, J., Murphy, M., & Frederick, F. (1985). Maximal Power Outputs During the Wingate Anaerobic Test. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 06, 82 - 85. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1025818
- Pearcey G. E. P., Bradbury-Squires D. J., Monks M., Philpott D., Power K. E., Button D.C. (2016) Arm-cycling sprints induce neuromuscular fatigue of the elbow flexors and alter corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii. Applied Physiology,

Nutrition, and Metabolism (2), 199-209. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0438 10.1139/apnm-2015-0438

- Pearcey, G. E., Murphy, J. R., Behm, D. G., Hay, D. C., Power, K. E., & Button, D. C. (2015). Neuromuscular fatigue of the knee extensors during repeated maximal intensity intermittent-sprints on a cycle ergometer. *Muscle & nerve*, 51(4), 569– 579. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24342
- Pedersen, E., Danquah, I., Petersen, C., & Tolstrup, J. (2016). Intra-individual variability in day-to-day and month-to-month measurements of physical activity and sedentary behaviour at work and in leisure-time among Danish adults. *BMC Public Health*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3890-3
- Pérez-Gómez, J., Rodríguez, G., Ara, I., Olmedillas, H., Chavarren, J., González-Henríquez, J., Dorado, C., & Calbet, J. (2008). Role of muscle mass on sprint performance: gender differences? *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 102, 685-694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-007-0648-8
- Petajan, J. (1991). AAEM minimonograph #3: Motor unit recruitment. *Muscle & Nerve*, 14. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880140602
- Phinyomark, A., Quaine, F., Laurillau, Y., Thongpanja, S., Limsakul, C., & Phukpattaranont, P. (2013). EMG AMPLITUDE ESTIMATORS BASED ON PROBABILITY DISTRIBUTION FOR MUSCLE–COMPUTER INTERFACE. *Fluctuation and Noise Letters*, 12, 1350016. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219477513500168

- Pleša, J., Kozinc, Ž., & Šarabon, N. (2022). Bilateral deficit in countermovement jump and its influence on linear sprinting, jumping, and change of direction ability in volleyball players. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2022.768906
- Post, M., Duinen, H., Steens, A., Renken, R., Kuipers, B., Maurits, N., & Zijdewind, I. (2007). Reduced cortical activity during maximal bilateral contractions of the index finger. *NeuroImage*, 35, 16-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.11.050
- Power, K. E., Lockyer, E. J., Forman, D. A., & Button, D. C. (2018). Modulation of motoneurone excitability during rhythmic motor outputs. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, 43(11), 1176–1185. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0077
- Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, et al., editors. Neuroscience. 2nd edition. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; 2001. Neural Centers Responsible for Movement. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10995/
- Raez, M. B., Hussain, M. S., & Mohd-Yasin, F. (2006). Techniques of EMG signal analysis: detection, processing, classification and applications. Biological procedures online, 8, 11–35. https://doi.org/10.1251/bpo115
- Rana S. R. (2006). Effect of the Wingate test on mechanomyography and electromyography. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 20(2), 292–297. https://doi.org/10.1519/R-17345.1

- Renshaw, D., Bice, M. R., Cassidy, C., Eldridge, J. A., & Powell, D. W. (2010). A
 Comparison of Three Computer-based Methods Used to Determine EMG Signal
 Amplitude. *International journal of exercise science*, 3(1), 43–48
- Ricard, M., Ugrinowitsch, C., Ugrinowitsch, C., Parcell, A., Hilton, S., Rubley, M., Sawyer, R., & Poole, C. (2005). Effects of rate of force development on EMG amplitude and frequency. International journal of sports medicine, 26 1, 66-70. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-2004-817856
- Robergs, R., Kennedy, D., Gibson, A., Zuhl, M., Hsu, H., Beam, J., Salgado, R., White,
 A., Majumdar, A., Lawson, S., Estrada, E., & Sierra, G. (2015). EVIDENCE FOR
 THE INVALIDITY OF THE WINGATE TEST FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF
 PEAK POWER, POWER DECREMENT AND MUSCULAR FATIGUE. Central
 European journal of sport sciences and medicine, 10, 63-78
- Rota, S., Rogowski, I., Champely, S., & Hautier, C. (2013). Reliability of EMG normalisation methods for upper-limb muscles. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 31(15), 1696–1704. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2013.796063
- Rothwell, J., & Kofler, M. (2012). Neurophysiology of the brainstem-structure and function of brainstem circuits. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 123, 2-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2011.10.008
- Rozand, V., Senefeld, J. W., Hassanlouei, H., & Hunter, S. K. (2017). Voluntary activation and variability during maximal dynamic contractions with aging. *European journal* of applied physiology, 117(12), 2493–2507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-017-3737-3

82

- Roy, R. R., Bello, M. A., Powell, P. L., & Simpson, D. R. (1984). Architectural design and fiber-type distribution of the major elbow flexors and extensors of the monkey (cynomolgus). *American Journal of Anatomy*, *171*(3), 285–293. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1001710305
- Ruiz-Cárdenas, J., Jiménez-Reyes, P., & Rodríguez-Juan, J. (2014). OC16 The bilateral deficit phenomenon: bibliographic review. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48, A6 A6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2014-094245.16
- Saeterbakken, A., Andersen, V., Brudeseth, A., Lund, H., & Fimland, M. (2015). The Effect of Performing Bi- and Unilateral Row Exercises on Core Muscle Activation. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36, 900 - 905. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1398646
- Sale, D. (1987). 5 Influence of Exercise and Training on Motor Unit Activation. Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews, 15, 95–152. https://doi.org/10.1249/00003677-198700150-00008
- Samuel, O., Li, X., Geng, Y., Asogbon, M., Fang, P., Huang, Z., & Li, G. (2017). Resolving the adverse impact of mobility on myoelectric pattern recognition in upper-limb multifunctional prostheses. *Computers in biology and medicine*, 90, 76-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2017.09.013
- Šarabon, N., Kozinc, Ž., Bishop, C., & Maffiuletti, N. (2020). Factors influencing bilateral deficit and inter-limb asymmetry of maximal and explosive strength: motor task, outcome measure and muscle group. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 120, 1681 - 1688. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-020-04399-1

- Serrau, V., Driss, T., Vandewalle, H., Behm, D. G., Lesne-Chabran, E., & Pellec-Muller,
 A. L. (2011). Muscle activation of the elbow flexor and extensor muscles during
 Self-Resistance exercises. *The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 26(9), 2468–2477. https://doi.org/10.1519/jsc.0b013e31823bc0a2
- Sibbald, B., & Roland, M. (1998). Understanding controlled trials: Why are randomised controlled trials important? *BMJ*, *316*(7126), 201. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7126.201
- Silveira-Rodrigues, J., Maia-Lima, A., Almeida, P., França, B., Campos, B., Penna, E., Gordon, D., & Prado, L. (2021). Optimal load setting provides higher peak power and fatigue index with a similar mean power during 30-s Wingate anaerobic test in physically active men. *Fatigue: Biomedicine, Health & Behavior*, 9, 175 - 188. https://doi.org/10.1080/21641846.2021.1989943
- Singh, D., & Singh, B. (2020). Investigating the impact of data normalization on classification performance. *Appl. Soft Comput.*, 97, 105524. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ASOC.2019.105524
- Souissi, H., Chtourou, H., Chaouachi, A., Chamari, K., Souissi, N., & Amri, M. (2012).
 Time-of-Day Effects on EMG Parameters During the Wingate Test in Boys. *Journal of sports science & medicine*, 11 3, 380-6
- Škarabot, J., Cronin, N., Strojnik, V., & Avela, J. (2016). Bilateral deficit in maximal force production. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 116, 2057-2084. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-016-3458-z

- Stålberg, E., Dijk, H., Falck, B., Kimura, J., Neuwirth, C., Pitt, M., Podnar, S., Rubin, D., Rutkove, S., Sanders, D., Sonoo, M., Tankisi, H., & Zwarts, M. (2019). Standards for quantification of EMG and neurography. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 130, 1688-1729. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2019.05.008
- Stock, M., & Mota, J. (2017). Shifts in the relationship between motor unit recruitment thresholds versus derecruitment thresholds during fatigue. *Medical engineering & physics*, 50, 35-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medengphy.2017.08.015
- Suzuki, H., Conwit, R., Stashuk, D., Santarsiero, L., & Metter, E. (2002). Relationships between surface-detected EMG signals and motor unit activation. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 34 9, 1509-17. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200209000-00018
- Szyszka-Sommerfeld, L., Lipski, M., & Woźniak, K. (2020). Surface Electromyography as a Method for Diagnosing Muscle Function in Patients with Congenital Maxillofacial Abnormalities. *Journal of Healthcare Engineering*, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8846920
- Tabard-Fougère, A., Rose-Dulcina, K., Pittet, V., Dayer, R., Vuillerme, N., & Armand, S. (2018). EMG normalization method based on grade 3 of manual muscle testing:
 Within- and between-day reliability of normalization tasks and application to gait analysis. *Gait & posture*, 60, 6-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.10.026
- Tanhehco, J. (2003). Single-fiber electromyography. *Physical medicine and rehabilitation clinics of North America*, 14 2, 207-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1047-9651(02)00123-7

Taniguchi, Y. (1998). Relationship between the modifications of bilateral deficit in upper and lower limbs by resistance training in humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 78, 226-230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004210050411

Thompson, E., Secrest, J., Jones, E., & Whitehead, M. (2015). Establishing the Learned Effect of Repeated Wingate Anaerobic Tests: 774 Board #170 May 27,
2. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47, 204. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000476986.46642.50

- Tiwana, M. S., Charlick, M., & Varacallo, M. (2018). Anatomy, shoulder and upper limb, biceps muscle. *StatPearls*. https://europepmc.org/article/MED/30137823
- Tøien, T., Haglo, H., Nyberg, S. K., Rao, S. V., Stunes, A. K., Mosti, M. P., & Wang, E. (2021). Maximal strength training-induced increase in efferent neural drive is not reflected in relative protein expression of SERCA. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *121*(12), 3421–3430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-021-04807-0
- Türker, K. (1993). Electromyography: some methodological problems and issues. Physical therapy, 73 10, 698-710. https://doi.org/10.1093/PTJ/73.10.698
- Van Den Hoven, R., Wensing, T., Breukink, H. J., Meijer, A. E., & Kruip, T. A. (1985).
 Variation of fiber types in the triceps brachii, longissimus dorsi, gluteus medius, and biceps femoris of horses. *PubMed*, 46(4), 939–941. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/4014843
- Vilensky, J., & Gilman, S. (1998). Renaming the "Henneman Size Principle". *Science*, 280, 2027 2027. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.280.5372.2027F

- Vrdoljak, D., Kaić, T., & Uljević, O. (2022). Construction and Validation of Arm Wingate Test for Determination of Anaerobic Abilities in Water Polo Juniors. *Спортске науке и здравље - АПЕИРОН*. https://doi.org/10.7251/ssh2201058v
- Wang, X., Beltran Martinez, K., Golabchi, A., Tavakoli, M., & Rouhani, H. (2023). A
 Dynamic Procedure to Detect Maximum Voluntary Contractions in Low
 Back. Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 23(11), 4999.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/s23114999
- Wang, H., Rajotte, K., Wang, H., Dai, C., Zhu, Z., Bhuiyan, M., Huang, X., & Clancy, E. (2019). Optimal Estimation of EMG Standard Deviation (EMG σ) in Additive Measurement Noise: Model-Based Derivations and Their Implications. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 27, 2328-2335. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2951081
- Wang, J., & Sainburg, R. L. (2007). The dominant and nondominant arms are specialized for stabilizing different features of task performance. *Experimental Brain Research*, 178(4), 565–570. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-007-0936-x
- Wang, Z., Xiang, X., Zhang, H., Yang, Z., & Zhang, Y. (2023). Investigation of Fracture Mechanism and Performance Optimization of Grading Electrode Applied in HVDC System. 2023 IEEE International Conference on Advanced Power System Automation and Protection (APAP), 398-402. https://doi.org/10.1109/APAP59666.2023.10348424
- Ward, N., Farmer, S., Berthouze, L., & Halliday, D. (2013). Rectification of EMG in low force contractions improves detection of motor unit coherence in the beta-

frequency band. Journal of neurophysiology, 110 8, 1744-50. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00296.2013

- Warnock, B., Gyemi, D., Brydges, E., Stefanczyk, J., Kahelin, C., Burkhart, T., & Andrews, D. (2019). Comparison of Upper Extremity Muscle Activation Levels
 Between Isometric and Dynamic Maximum Voluntary Contraction
 Protocols. *International Journal of Kinesiology and Sports Science*. https://doi.org/10.7575/AIAC.IJKSS.V.7N.2P.21
- Weber, C., Chia, M., & Inbar, O. (2006). Gender differences in anaerobic power of the arms and legs--a scaling issue. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 38 1, 129-37. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000179902.31527.2C
- Wun, C., Zhang, M., Ho, B., McGeough, K., Tan, F., & Aziz, A. (2020). Efficacy of a Six-Week Dispersed Wingate-Cycle Training Protocol on Peak Aerobic Power, Leg Strength, Insulin Sensitivity, Blood Lipids and Quality of Life in Healthy Adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17134860
- Xu, T., & Barak, O. (2017). Dynamical timescale explains marginal stability in excitability dynamics. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(17), 4508–4524. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2340-16.2017
- Yamashita, K., Sawahata, H., Yamagiwa, S., Yokoyama, S., Numano, R., Koida, K., & Kawano, T. (2022). A floating 5 µm-diameter needle electrode on the tissue for damage-reduced chronic neuronal recording in mice. *Lab on a chip*. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1lc01031j

- Yamauchi, J., Mishima, C., Nakayama, S., & Ishii, N. (2009). Force-velocity, force-power relationships of bilateral and unilateral leg multi-joint movements in young and elderly women. *Journal of biomechanics*, 42 13, 2151-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2009.05.032
- Yang, J., & Winter, D. (1983). Electromyography reliability in maximal and submaximal isometric contractions. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 64 9, 417-20
- Ye, X., Miller, W., Jeon, S., & Carr, J. (2019). Sex comparisons of the bilateral deficit in proximal and distal upper body limb muscles. *Human movement science*, 64, 329-337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2019.02.017
- Yoshitake, Y., Kanehisa, H., & Shinohara, M. (2016). Correlated EMG Oscillations between Antagonists during Cocontraction in Men. *Medicine & Science in Sports* & *Exercise*, 49(3), 538–548. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.000000000001117
- Yu, B., Zhang, X., Cheng, Y., Liu, L., YanJiang, N., Wang, J., & Lu, X. (2022). The effects of the biceps brachii and brachioradialis on elbow flexor muscle strength and spasticity in stroke patients. *Neural Plasticity*, 2022, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/1295908
- Zawawi, T. (2015). APPLICATION OF SPECTROGRAM IN ANALYSING ELECTROMYOGRAPHY(EMG) SIGNALS OF MANUAL LIFTING. Malaysian Technical Universities Conference on Engineering and Technology 2015. http://www.arpnjournals.org/jeas/research_papers/rp_2016/jeas_0316_3852.pdf

- Zhao, Y., Chen, C., Lu, B., Zhu, X., & Gu, G. (2023). All 3D-Printed Soft High-Density
 Surface Electromyography Electrode Arrays for Accurate Muscle Activation
 Mapping and Decomposition. *Advanced Functional Materials*.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202312480
- Zehr, E., Balter, J., Ferris, D., Hundza, S., Loadman, P., & Stoloff, R. (2007). Neural regulation of rhythmic arm and leg movement is conserved across human locomotor tasks. The Journal of Physiology, 582. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.133843
- Zehr, E. P., Carroll, T. J., Chua, R., Collins, D. F., Frigon, A., Haridas, C., Hundza, S. R.,
 & Thompson, A. K. (2004). Possible contributions of CPG activity to the control of rhythmic human arm movement. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 82(8–9), 556–568. https://doi.org/10.1139/y04-056
- Zhu, D., Zheng, C., Liu, Y., Weber, R., & Zhu, P. (2018). S165. Henneman's size principle for the motor neurons recruitment of human spinal reflex: Evidences from a study of H reflexes during acute compression/ischemia. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2018.04.525
- Zinner, C., Morales-Alamo, D., Ørtenblad, N., Larsen, F., Schiffer, T., Willis, S., Gelabert-Rebato, M., Perez-Valera, M., Boushel, R., Calbet, J., & Holmberg, H. (2016). The Physiological Mechanisms of Performance Enhancement with Sprint Interval Training Differ between the Upper and Lower Extremities in Humans. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00426

Zupan, M., Arata, A., Dawson, L., Wile, A., Payn, T., & Hannon, M. (2009). Wingate Anaerobic Test Peak Power and Anaerobic Capacity Classifications for Men and Women Intercollegiate Athletes. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 23, 2598-2604. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181b1b21b

	12 o'clock								
		U	D	UI	٧D	BL	ND	BLD	
Rectified and smoothed (0.1ms)									
EMG	Biceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	0.125	0.073	0.137	0.122	0.120	0.054	0.130	0.084
3%	Middle	0.119	0.069	0.127	0.098	0.249	0.232	0.148	0.133
	End	0.104	0.050	0.115	0.076	0.134	0.076	0.133	0.096
	Beginning	0.099	0.068	0.088	0.044	0.142	0.159	0.094	0.064
4%	Middle	0.092	0.050	0.088	0.033	0.147	0.157	0.103	0.064
	End	0.069	0.024	0.080	0.028	0.088	0.045	0.086	0.039
50/	Beginning	0.091	0.049	0.093	0.061	0.261	0.274	0.108	0.051
5%	Middle	0.093	0.058	0.104	0.058	0.1//	0.157	0.119	0.057
	End	0.077	0.038	0.083	0.028	0.108	0.045	0.102	0.049
				6	o'clock				
		U	D	UI	VD	BL	ND	BI	LD
Rectified and smoothed (0.1ms)									
EMG	Biceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	0.337	0.109	0.374	0.141	0.357	0.118	0.396	0.129
	Middle	0.401	0.167	0.445	0.145	0.357	0.159	0.462	0.197
	End	0.442	0.199	0.473	0.177	0.391	0.164	0.465	0.153
	Beginning	0.325	0.144	0.348	0.140	0.323	0.139	0.366	0.148
407	Middle	0.406	0.185	0.448	0.195	0.341	0.145	0.439	0.204
4%	End Decimain c	0.307	0.174	0.500	0.290	0.351	0.177	0.471	0.249
	Middle	0.339	0.128	0.348	0.195	0.323	0.115	0.409	0.103
5%	End	0.402	0.140	0.431	0.211	0.386	0.143	0.477	0.213
370	Enq	0.577	0.111	0.110	0.270	0.570	0.177	0.200	0.210
			D	12	2 o'clock	DI	NID	DI	D
Destified		U	D	UI		BL	ND	BI	_D
and smoothed (0.1ms)									
EMG	Triceps	M	SD 0.122	M	SD 0.401	M	SD 0.122	M	SD 0.274
	Beginning	0.295	0.132	0.593	0.401	0.300	0.132	0.598	0.3/4
20/	End	0.325	0.160	0.660	0.418	0.301	0.157	0.638	0.507
370	Deginning	0.303	0.134	0.030	0.410	0.285	0.112	0.033	0.380
	Middle	0.280	0.144	0.555	0.303	0.271	0.141	0.033	0.392
4%	End	0.275	0.133	0.571	0.318	0.309	0.152	0.627	0.345
170	Beginning	0.326	0.188	0.577	0.389	0.266	0.148	0.651	0.419
	Middle	0.374	0.209	0.616	0.400	0.357	0.132	0.716	0.479
5%	End	0.354	0.227	0.538	0.318	0.410	0.153	0.678	0.459
				6	o'clock				
Dest.e.1		U	ע	UI	עא	BL	ND	BI	_D
and smoothed (0.1ms) EMG	Tricens	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD

Table 1. Rectified and smoothed EMG data mean and standard deviation values during WAnT experimental trials. All EMG data is in mV.

	Beginning	0.168	0.083	0.432	0.321	0.169	0.066	0.439	0.331
	Middle	0.179	0.091	0.473	0.373	0.204	0.126	0.512	0.420
3%	End	0.170	0.078	0.389	0.223	0.160	0.080	0.488	0.410
	Beginning	0.325	0.144	0.332	0.233	0.154	0.057	0.383	0.294
	Middle	0.406	0.185	0.357	0.197	0.150	0.047	0.409	0.318
4%	End	0.367	0.174	0.349	0.206	0.132	0.057	0.340	0.227
	Beginning	0.339	0.128	0.377	0.324	0.204	0.076	0.442	0.391
	Middle	0.402	0.140	0.366	0.224	0.196	0.047	0.410	0.293
5%	End	0.379	0.141	0.360	0.206	0.154	0.057	0.348	0.235

UD: Unilateral Dominant arm, UND: Unilateral Non-dominant arm, BLD: Bilateral Dominant arm, BLND: Bilateral Non-dominant arm, M: mean, SD: standard deviation.

Table 2. Table of average MVIC. All EMG data is in mV.

e				
Mean MVIC for U Normalization	DT @ 12	DB @ 6	NT @ 12	NB @ 6
5%	0.673	0.377	0.339	0.384
4%	0.712	0.421	0.301	0.345
3%	0.692	0.369	0.308	0.334
SD of Mean MVIC for U Normalization	DT @ 12	DB @ 6	NT @ 12	NB @ 6
5%	0.406	0.193	0.174	0.180
4%	0.404	0.360	0.118	0.194
3%	0.376	0.205	0.168	0.205
Mean MVIC for BL Normalization	DT @ 12	DB @ 6	NT @ 12	NB @ 6
5%	0.687	0.484	0.374	0.559
4%	0.673	0.443	0.343	0.555
3%	0.723	0.443	0.334	0.466
SD of Mean MVIC for BL Normalization	DT @ 12	DB @ 6	NT @ 12	NB @ 6
5%	0.423	0.240	0.173	0.363
4%	0.392	0.212	0.153	0.375
3%	0.365	0.278	0.189	0.279

U: Unilateral, BL: Bilateral, SD: Standard Deviation, BL: Bilateral, U: Unilateral, DT: Dominant Triceps, DB: Dominant Biceps, NT: Non-dominant triceps, NB: Non-dominant Biceps. 6: MVIC taken at crank position at 6 o'clock. 12: MVIC taken at crank position at 12 o'clock position.

Table 3. Normalized average EMG (mean and standard deviation) during WAnT experimental trials.

		12 o'clock							
		U	D	UND		BLND		BLD	
Normalized	Biceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	55.74	54.24	64.66	64.27	40.56	32.98	44.61	39.33
3%	Middle	51.52	46.28	53.74	135.72	68.28	52.16	47.97	48.04
	End	45.18	36.08	45.57	157.67	56.17	46.79	44.31	39.94
	Beginning	61.70	115.71	42.88	44.64	47.92	62.01	29.84	32.86
4%	Middle	55.95	95.30	39.83	93.23	48.60	60.74	32.63	35.94
	End	45.08	67.19	32.71	112.20	44.16	57.99	28.04	32.51
	Beginning	41.06	48.22	31.43	26.64	76.33	92.60	38.39	57.01
5%	Middle	44.63	59.48	30.03	33.71	66.93	119.99	40.77	64.06
	End	32.68	29.56	26.97	67.38	63.92	85.69	35.61	48.73
				6	o'clock				
		U	D	UI	ND	BL	ND	BI	LD

Normalized	Biceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	132.24	83.64	143.01	88.96	102.20	56.61	107.02	49.74
3%	Middle	155.55	89.89	172.05	215.52	111.82	84.09	126.96	69.79
	End	154.77	62.22	190.34	216.54	110.81	75.03	130.09	62.80
	Beginning	151.36	134.35	125.92	74.02	86.36	51.06	80.81	37.36
4%	Middle	161.84	120.68	149.30	181.66	93.88	52.18	92.07	36.66
	End	177.04	137.15	125.33	182.21	89.67	38.86	96.72	34.71
	Beginning	117.22	51.75	109.86	60.80	79.91	57.41	95.83	54.05
5%	Middle	139.26	53.28	126.29	135.27	99.90	67.38	115.64	57.55
	End	136.69	61.31	111.57	145.46	90.85	48.40	119.64	59.67
				12	o'clock				
		U	D	UI	٧D	BL	ND	BI	D
Normalized	Triceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	97.14	30.19	115.54	36.95	51.10	26.87	233.75	147.38
3%	Middle	109.46	30.11	124.38	128.83	47.31	20.40	254.38	183.20
	End	107.21	32.13	117.63	122.55	59.51	61.66	260.47	184.06
	Beginning	91.33	20.54	98.13	29.72	47.12	25.39	206.88	101.04
4%	Middle	95.86	18.72	102.30	111.79	47.88	20.88	225.29	112.30
	End	88.93	24.05	95.58	106.18	46.12	22.57	211.92	100.69
	Beginning	98.84	27.71	120.66	80.07	43.23	23.62	208.63	124.59
5%	Middle	102.93	19.59	133.00	192.99	60.39	36.77	235.14	150.09
	End	90.01	16.46	119.67	193.15	55.78	35.00	224.31	130.86
				6	o'clock				
		U	D	UI	٧D	BLND		BI	D
Normalized	Triceps	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
	Beginning	69.76	33.71	70.36	36.82	30.31	18.94	182.42	140.23
3%	Middle	76.69	38.21	72.98	94.29	35.95	23.43	210.20	160.98
	End	64.82	28.04	70.53	96.27	34.95	33.82	200.29	153.54
	Beginning	55.82	26.99	56.88	32.03	29.47	17.91	141.95	121.42
4%	Middle	57.07	25.71	59.36	80.17	28.37	17.03	155.51	126.23
	End	57.08	31.24	61.69	78.81	28.84	21.81	131.10	101.11
	Beginning	63.66	35.94	60.73	31.00	36.13	22.51	144.45	131.67
5%	Middle	63.20	30.97	66.24	73.37	34.14	26.66	138.18	118.28
	End	64.18	40.89	62.93	104.10	35.78	30.01	120.87	106.31

UD: Unilateral Dominant arm, UND: Unilateral Non-dominant arm, BLD: Bilateral Dominant arm, BLND: Bilateral Non-dominant arm, M: mean, SD: standard deviation.

Table 4. Main effect and post hoc test summary (based on normalized EMG) and percentage differences.

	Biceps	Triceps	Biceps	Triceps	Biceps	Triceps	Biceps	Triceps
	UND v	's UD	BLND	vs BLD	UND vs	BLND	UD vs	s BLD
				+	+	+	+	+
				BLD	UND	UND	UD	BLD
AKM	-	-	-	359.5%	17.4% >	90.0% >	33.2% >	141.9%
				> BLND	BLND	BLND	BLD	> UD
	Beginning	vs Middle	Middle	vs End	Beginnin	g vs End		
	+							
WART SECTION	Middle							
WANT SECTION	11.3% >	-	-	-	-	-		
	Beginning							
	3% BM vs	s 4% BM	3% BM v	vs 5% BM	4% BM vs	s 5% BM		

	+	+	+	+			
INTENGITY	3%BM	3%BM	3%BM	3%BM			
INTENSITY	16.4% >	21.4% >	22.4% >	13.9% >	-	-	
	4%BM	4%BM	5%BM	5%BM			

+ Indicates significant difference (P < 0.05).

- Indicates no significant difference (P > 0.05).

UD: Unilateral Dominant arm, UND: Unilateral Non-dominant arm, BLD: Bilateral Dominant arm, BLND: Bilateral Non-dominant arm.

Table 5. Interaction P value table (based on normalized values). P values only repo	orted for
significant interactions.	

Biceps	Triceps
+(0.019)	-
+ (<0.001)	+ (<0.001)
-	-
+ (<0.001)	+ (<0.001)
+(0.001)	-
-	-
-	-
-	-
-	-
-	-
-	-
	Biceps + (0.019) + (<0.001) - + (<0.001) + (0.001) - - - - - -

+ Indicates interaction reached significance (P = < 0.05).

- Indicates interaction did not reach significance (P = > 0.05).

Figure Legend

Figure 1. Experimental upper body WAnT protocol. Sessions 2, 3, and 4 were experimental sessions. Sessions were randomized.

Figure 2. Study group aggregate average rectified and smoothed (0.1ms) EMG during a single revolution (360°) of the crank for the beginning, middle, and end section of each WAnT for all arm configurations and WAnT intensities. **A)** 3% BM, **B)** 4% BM, and **C)** 5% BM WAnT. The first column represents Bilateral Non-dominant EMG, second column represents Bilateral Dominant EMG, third column represents Unilateral Non-dominant EMG.

Figure 3. Study group mean aggregate percentage shift in normalized biceps and triceps brachii EMG activation from unilateral to bilateral WAnTs for **A**) the dominant arm and **B**) the non-dominant arm. Represented as the mean percentage increase or decrease of normalized EMG activity when comparing unilateral arm cycling to bilateral arm cycling WAnTs. A positive delta indicates that normalized EMG for a muscle at a given WAnT intensity was greater during a bilateral WAnT when compared to a unilateral WAnT. A negative delta indicates that normalized EMG for a muscle at a given WAnT. A negative delta indicates that normalized EMG for a muscle at a given WAnT. A negative delta indicates that normalized EMG for a muscle at a given WAnT intensity was greater during a bilateral WAnT when compared to a unilateral WAnT. A negative delta indicates that normalized EMG for a muscle at a given WAnT intensity was greater during a unilateral WAnT than during a bilateral WAnT. Bars indicate standard error.

Figure 4. Study group aggregate mean EMG amplitude shift of the biceps brachii and triceps brachii from the middle of WAnT to the end of WAnT across all intensities, crank

positions, and both muscles, expressed as a percentage of the beginning EMG amplitude for **A**) Unilateral and **B**) Bilateral WAnTs. The left column represents the Non-dominant arm, and the right panel represents the Dominant arm.

Figure 1









Generators Deginning 12 o'clock 🕷 Beginning 6 o'clock 🔳 Middle 12 o'clock 🕷 Middle 6 o'clock 💻 End 12 o'clock 🕷 End 6 o'clock





Appendix

Appendix 1- Ethics Approval Letter



Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

St. John's, NL Canada A1C 557 Tel: 709 864-2561 icehr@mun.ca www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr

ICEHR Number:	20250289-НК
Approval Period:	May 27, 2024 – May 31, 2025
Funding Source:	
Responsible	Dr. Duane Button
Faculty:	School of Human Kinetics and Recreation
Title of Project:	Exploring EMG activity during WinGate trials
Title of Percent	Deer - kilstowel deficit wint in some medium and is it
Project:	task dependant?
ICEHR Number:	20230904-HK

May 27, 2024

Mr. Chioke Swann School of Human Kinetics and Recreation Memorial University

Dear Mr. Swann:

Thank you for your submission to the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) seeking ethical clearance for the above-named research project. The Committee has reviewed the proposal and agrees that the project is consistent with the guidelines of the *Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans* (TCPS2). *Full ethics clearance* is granted to May 31, 2025. ICEHR approval applies to the ethical acceptability of the research, as per Article 6.3 of the *TCPS2*. Researchers are responsible for adherence to any other relevant University policies and/or funded or non-funded agreements that may be associated with the project. If funding is obtained subsequent to ethics approval, you must submit a <u>Funding and/or Partner Change Request</u> to ICEHR so that this ethics clearance can be linked to your award.

The *TCPS2* requires that you strictly adhere to the protocol and documents as last reviewed by ICEHR. If you need to make additions and/or modifications, you must submit an <u>Amendment Request</u> with a description of these changes, for the Committee's review of potential ethical issues, before they may be implemented. Submit a <u>Personnel Change Form</u> to add or remove project team members and/or research staff. Also, to inform ICEHR of any unanticipated occurrences, an <u>Adverse Event Report</u> must be submitted with an indication of how the unexpected event may affect the continuation of the project.

The *TCPS2* requires that you submit an <u>Annual Update</u> to ICEHR before <u>May 31, 2025</u>. If you plan to continue the project, you need to request renewal of your ethics clearance and include a brief summary on the progress of your research. When the project no longer involves contact with human participants, is completed and/or terminated, you are required to provide an annual update with a brief final summary and your file will be closed. All post-approval <u>ICEHR event forms</u> noted above must be submitted by selecting the *Applications: Post-Review* link on your Researcher Portal homepage. We wish you success with your research.

Yours sincerely,

ames & Drow

James Drover, Ph.D. Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research

JD/bc

cc: Supervisor - Dr. Duane Button, School of Human Kinetics and Recreation